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Our 
Mission
WAFIC is the recognised peak 
body to protect, promote and 
support development of the 
commercial fishing industry.
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From  
the Chair

The past 12 months can best be described 
as a year of significant change for the WA 
fishing industry and WAFIC as we reshape 
to deliver on the new strategic direction 
which was ratified by the Board in 2019.

The year started strongly, but an impasse on several 
key issues ultimately saw four Board members, 
including the Chairman resign in January 2020.

I would like to thank these Board members for 
their numerous achievements over many years and 
for their commitment to help shape and direct the 
industry through these challenging times. I also 
respect their decision to step aside when issues 
reached an impasse.

It was during this period that I was invited to join 
WAFIC as its Chairman.

After decades of public service as a parliamentary 
Member and Chairman of the Mid West Regional 
Development Commission I saw great opportunity 
in playing a role with WA’s peak commercial 
fishing body and further building its potential 
as an economic driver and catalyst for regional 
development.

I have spent many hours since then on the road 
visiting regional seafood businesses and sector 
bodies and will continue these tours around the 
State to hear first-hand what is happening in our 
regional fisheries.

Like my predecessor, one of my key priorities for 
the industry is unity. While we are all connected 
as fishers, we need to learn how to better come 
together as an industry with a unified purpose 
and vision.

We saw the fruits of this emerging throughout 
the COVID-19 recovery planning when industry 
members were quick to work together with WAFIC 
to identify common issues, challenges, goals and 
mitigations.

The WAFIC team brought these needs together into 
a robust recovery plan that was well supported by 
the State and Federal Governments and provided 
$1.3 million in financial support. This coordinated 
approach has assisted the industry to rebound and 
stabilise quickly.

There’s still plenty of challenges ahead, but we 
have a stable platform from which to build and 
we are seeing the tangible benefits of working 
together as a focussed team.

This will be increasingly important as we face the 
ongoing challenges of retaining security for resource 
access while minimising government red tape. 
Behind this we also need to manage increasing fees 
and charges and additional environmental scrutiny 
and encroachment that may result under changes 
to the Marine Parks and the new Aquatic Resources 
Management Act.

Fishers more than anyone understand the need for 
healthy, sustainable oceans, but we need to strike 
a sustainable economic balance that will allow the 
industry to prosper and grow.

I would like to thank the WAFIC Board and staff 
for their efforts throughout 2019-2020 and their 
dedication to the challenges ahead. Their exceptional 
efforts to support the industry throughout this very 
challenging time has been critical to the industry’s 
COVID-19 recovery.

In closing, I would like to particularly recognise the 
efforts of Alex Ogg, who worked as Chief Executive 
throughout this period. Alex’s passion, experience, 
knowledge and drive delivered some exceptional 
outcomes for the industry and have laid good 
foundations for WAFIC’s future.

Murray Criddle 
WAFIC Chairman
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“ While we are all 
connected as fishers, 
we need to learn 
how to better come 
together as an 
industry with a unified 
purpose and vision.”

$1.3 million
State and Federal 

support

Key submissions
Throughout the year, WAFIC consulted with industry 
and developed submissions to reviews of State 
and Commonwealth policy and legislation that 
impact members, including the Environmental 
Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Acts and 
the Commonwealth Fisheries Resource Sharing 
Framework. 

WAFIC also managed and supported a number of 
material submissions and face-to-face meetings 
covering a wide variety of issues, including:

• Submission and appearance before Legislative 
Council inquiry into Property Rights in Fisheries 
legislation;

• Submission on Industrial Manslaughter;

• Submission on Commonwealth resource 
allocation policy;

• Submission on Senate Seismic Enquiry;

• Submission to NOPESMA – Maintenance and 
removal of property policy;

• Submission re Offshore Petroleum Exploration 
Acreage Release in Commonwealth waters;

• Submission EPBC Act Review; and 

• Submission proposed Browse to North West Shelf 
Project and North West Shelf project extension
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From 
the CEO

I stepped into the chief executive role 
18 months ago with support from the 
Board, to implement WAFIC’s new strategic 
plan, initiate Seafood WA and to help 
members navigate the challenges in what 
has proved to be a turbulent and volatile 
environment in 2020.

After working hard to assist industry survival and 
recovery and deliver on these commitments I am 
now preparing to hand the reins over to the next 
WAFIC chief executive in October.

Stability and unity across WA’s seafood industry 
is critical. A destabilised peak body serves no one 
well and will further fragment the industry unless 
it can find clear, stable direction in which to deliver 
a unified vision. We found this moment of rare unity 
in our strong industry response to the COVID crisis. 
At a time when some export markets disappeared 
completely and cashflows were strangled, the 
industry rallied together to develop a plan that would 
bring members along to the fullest extent possible. 

Achieving business as usual goals against the 
backdrop of pandemic challenges has been difficult, 
but WAFIC made significant progress and delivered 
effective results in terms of long term deferrals and 
waivers of a host of industry fees across a number of 

government portfolios and assisted in finding critical 
access to markets. In 2021 a review of those fisheries 
severely impacted by COVID-19 will provide additional 
recourse for fee relief to those in need.

Western Australia’s seafood industry is at a critical 
point in its evolution. We have heard a wake up call to 
look beyond self-interest and to position the industry 
to meet the increased pressures of destabilised 
globalisation, the changing international landscape 
and the increasing pressures being applied by 
environmental groups and economic forces.

Diversifying our export markets is an essential 
medium-term goal but building our local and 
domestic markets across Australia is also vital as 
protection from the current geopolitical risk. We are 
working closely with government to ensure we have an 
operating environment that can help us achieve this 
and investigating novel ways of reaching new markets.

Managing high levels of fees and charges, constantly 
fighting for secure access to the resources while 
working to minimise bureaucracy and red tape 
is seeing many businesses spend excessive time 
managing the processes. This is valuable time which 
should be spent adding value to products, rebuilding 
and creating new supply chains and developing a 
secure, resilient, and sustainable seafood industry 
with diverse domestic and export markets.
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One of the realisations over the past year has been 
to understand the importance of engaging our 
communities and sharing our industry messages, 
and I’m pleased that the newly formed Board 
endorsed the development of a new consumer-facing 
brand, Seafood WA, to do this.

While its implementation has been delayed by other 
priorities, the Seafood WA brand and its associated 
communications channels will allow the industry 
to talk directly with those people who are most 
important to our longevity – Western Australia’s 
metropolitan and regional communities. It will 
also provide a new channel for us to showcase 
and share the State’s amazing seafood products 
and experiences, as well as our commitment to 
sustainability.

Commercial fishers more than anyone else 
understand the need for sustainable, healthy 
oceans and Seafood WA will help us join with new 
communities, building trust with who are also deeply 
connected with managing the balance between 
fishing and the environment.

In difficult times, I’ve been buoyed by the improved 
working relationships WAFIC has with our 
government stakeholders and parliamentary 
affiliates. Throughout COVID-19 we have worked 
together to dissolve traditional barriers and 
roadblocks and we are seeing some exceptional 

outcomes emerging through our new working groups 
along with a renewed trust and confidence in our 
relationships that is now fast-tracking and delivering 
on projects which had previously languished. 

There are still many challenges ahead, but we are 
well positioned to confidently move forward into the 
post COVID-19 marketplace.

In closing, I would like to recognise and thank my 
staff and colleagues within the WAFIC team, who 
are quietly delivering amazing outcomes for the 
seafood industry every day of the week. Their support 
for industry through the COVID-19 shutdown in an 
operating environment which was changing daily was 
nothing short of amazing.

My sincere gratitude to this infrequently recognised 
and superb group of individuals, team WAFIC, who 
will make an incoming WAFIC CEO’s job enormously 
easier and help position WAFIC well for the inevitable 
challenges ahead.

My best wishes to our seafood industry.

Alex Ogg 
Former WAFIC Chief Executive Officer

Commercial 
fisheries 

supporting WA’s 
economic growth 

and recovery

“ Achieving business as usual goals against the backdrop of 
pandemic challenges has been difficult, but WAFIC made 
significant progress and delivered effective results.”
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It’s safe to say that these are 
unprecedented and interesting times for 
WA’s seafood industry – and while there 
are significant challenges ahead, I feel 
the industry is well placed to stabilise and 
move forward with unity and confidence.

In stepping into the role of Chief Executive, my 
immediate focus is to get a grounded understanding 
of the issues at grass-roots level, so I’ll be meeting 
face-to-face with smaller producers and you’ll 
be seeing a lot of me at meetings and regional 
briefings and workshops. This process is critical to 
identify problems, develop solutions and implement 
outcomes – so it will remain an ongoing priority for 
myself and the WAFIC team.

Despite the pandemic-related challenges, we are 
seeing many examples of positive developments, 
which demonstrate the flexibility and adaptability of 
our industry. We have great examples of innovation 
in sales and product development, with small 
fisheries boxing well above their weight. At the 
same time our wholesale and retail industries are 
stepping up to leverage the rising consumer demand 
for local products. We’ve also got a growing list of 
seafood exporters working to diversify and expand 

CEO seeking unity 
and innovation

their sales pipelines by signing on to our online 
business-matching programs to put them in front of 
qualified international buyers. These are healthy and 
encouraging signs that underpin growing confidence 
within the industry.

Nevertheless WAFIC remains closely focused on 
strengthening our core pillars and working with State 
and Federal Governments to maximise opportunities 
for resource access for sustainable fisheries. This of 
course has been an issue for a long time and given 
the ever-increasing number of other participants 
to the aquatic estate, the pressures will continue to 
grow. As such, as an industry we will need to display 
unity and focus to ensure our interests are not 
unfairly diminished.

The WA seafood industry is absolutely vital to our 
community. Not only does it represent a significant 
economic driver for the State, it’s a catalyst for 
regional development and a major employer - 
particularly in our regional coastal centres, where 
fishing is the lifeblood. Our industry has strong 
foundational values which we must forever retain and 
a culture and heritage which needs to be protected. 
However, we can’t live in yesterday, we need to 
embrace the challenges and risks of the new world 
to create the opportunities of the future.

My vision is to create a united industry front and 
remain focused on delivering the outcomes that 
matter – those which protect and shape our future. 
It’s important to recognise that with changing global 
dynamics our industry is likely to face headwinds 
which may significantly influence our markets and 
supply chains. So we’ve got to be right on our toes 
and looking forward, we certainly can’t afford to 
be distracted by issues of the past. Importantly 
we cannot afford to be fragmented on any issue. 
We need to have healthy debates behind closed 
doors and then lock in tight as a visibly unified 
industry for the road ahead, as there are plenty of 
challenges looming.

In moving forward, I would like to acknowledge 
and pay respect to my predecessor, Alex Ogg, 
who managed things through challenging times, 
particularly throughout the early days of the 
COVID-19 impacts. The work of Alex and his WAFIC 
team has provided a healthy foundation for the 
industry to move forward.

Best wishes

Darryl Hockey 
WAFIC Chief Executive Officer
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Brief Bio
Darryl Hockey has a diverse background 
in government and corporate sectors - 
including agricultural research; an adviser 
for State and Federal Cabinet Ministers; 
a senior executive in major mining and 
infrastructure projects; a public affairs 
manager and as a private consultant.

His experience includes challenging 
international roles in market development 
and trade facilitation, media and 
communications, business development and 
regulatory management. In addition, he has 
worked with industry groups to assist small 
businesses to develop their capabilities for 
entry into naval shipbuilding and defence 
related industries. 

Darryl is a past recipient of community 
service awards including WA Citizen of the 
Year, Centenary Medal and Humanitarian 
Overseas Service Medal. He holds a 
Masters in International Business and is 
a graduate of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors.

“ As an industry we need to display unity and focus to 
ensure our interests are not unfairly diminished.”
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Organisational 
structure

WAFIC Board

Chief Executive Officer

Industry MSC 
Project Leader

Executive Officer  
Oil and Gas

Senior Resource 
Access Officer

Communications 
Officer

Finance 
Officer

Executive 
Assistant
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Our 
Board

Wayne ScheggiaGary Morgan

Adam Radford

Paul Catalano

Don Nicholls

Anthony HaygarthTony Westerberg 
Vice-Chairman

Murray Criddle 
Chairman

Felicity Horn

The WAFIC Board is made up of nine 
directors, including an independent chair.

Board members are elected to their 
positions at the Annual General 
Meeting each year through a process of 
membership voting.
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The outbreak of COVID-19 in Wuhan sent 
immediate shivers down the spine of the WA 
commercial fishing industry, particularly 
the rock lobster and high-yield shellfish 
sectors, which have historic reliance on the 
Chinese export market.

As the pandemic unfolded, the impacts worsened 
with the realisation that Chinese New Year 
celebrations would be cancelled across the region.

WAFIC responded quickly by bringing the industry 
together to assess the impacts and develop a strategy 
to stabilise businesses and plot a pathway to recovery.

Early days reflected a mixed array of impacts, with 
some sales pipelines immediate stopped, while 
others – particularly those supplying cruise ships and 
other providores – continuing to trade strongly.

The closure of borders and regional boundaries along 
with the lockdown of businesses proved to be a telling 
blow and a turning point in the economic downturn.

WAFIC and its industry sectors developed a recovery 
strategy that would provide immediate support to 
cashflows through the deferment and/or waiving of 
government fees and charges, followed by additional 
support to help the industry members quickly 
re-establish domestic and international markets and 
sales pipelines post-recovery.

COVID-19 response 
and recovery strategy

The diversity of businesses and impacts ensured the 
strategy would not be a one-size-fits-all model, but 
there were some common elements that could be 
managed to minimise the risk of industry members 
falling through the cracks.

WAFIC lobbied the Department of Primary Industries 
and Regional Development as well as the Minister for 
Fisheries to support the proposed recovery package, 
while also networking across related departments 
and stakeholder groups, including the Chamber of 
Commerce and Industry, to negotiate operational 
activities that could stimulate business post-recovery. 

WAFIC also negotiated a waiver of pen and port fees 
and charges with the Minister for Transport and the 
Minister for Ports, to the benefit of all commercial 
fishers reliant upon public port infrastructure.

To manage the confusing flood of COVID-19 
information being provided by government and other 
parties, WAFIC developed a one-stop-shop web page, 
specifically for fishing industry members, that cut 
through the clutter and provided a clear channel for 
knowledge and contact information.

Meetings were also conducted with members with a 
view to refresh and diversify sales pipelines, which 
resulted in a number of virtual business-matching 
events that are proving to be popular and successful.

WAFIC chief executive, Alex Ogg represented the 
industry in senior workshops and government 

roundtable meetings with the Minister and Premier to 
ensure the seafood industry was heard and strongly 
represented.

The strategy has been recognised as a success and 
has seen the seafood industry as one of the quickest 
to emerge from the downturn.

Stakeholder meetings are continuing and are now 
focussed on identifying and facilitating ways to 
restore business operations to full capacity and 
bolster freight capacity, particularly air freight, which 
is severely limited due to inbound flight restrictions.

Singapore virtual trade event 
accelerates recovery
While many industries were bunkered down, 
WAFIC worked with Western Australian seafood 
exporters who were confidently stepping up with 
a vision to consolidate, expand and diversify their 
export markets.

In May, 10 WA seafood companies participated 
in an online one-on-one business-matching 
event with Singapore, securing 18 meetings with 
key buyers from across the region. The virtual 
meeting place proved successful and has seen 
additional business-matching sessions with other 
destinations, including Taiwan.
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Last year we noted industry confidence 
had been eroded by uncertainty around 
marine park planning, implementation and 
compensation processes and further delays 
in achieving the new Aquatic Resource 
Management Act (ARMA). Unfortunately, 
some of these issues remain current as a 
result of COVID-related shifts in priorities. 

WAFIC has been calling for progress on 
compensation claims throughout the year and while 
we have seen some incremental developments, 
we are working to accelerate the process and hope to 
see some tangible outcomes in the near future. 

Key priorities for Government and industry changed 
quickly this year as we began to grapple with market 
and access implications related to COVID-19. 

The resource access team was busy working with 
Government to develop a relief package for the 
commercial industry to shore up cashflow and 
attempt to offer some certainty, where possible. 
As the COVID-19 environment evolves, WAFIC will 
continue to liaise with government and industry 
on relief and recovery measures and progressively 
concentrate on opportunities to build and diversify 
markets going forward. 

In June 2019, the WA Government Legislative 
Council’s Standing Committee on Public 
Administration initiated an inquiry into Private 
Property Rights. WAFIC sought industry 
comment and, through its Policy and Regulation 
subcommittee, made a comprehensive submission 
to the Standing Committee on behalf of both the 
wild catch and aquaculture sectors. The submission 
outlined the importance of property rights to 
effective fisheries management and sustainable 
economic development and the importance or fair 
compensation when these rights are impinged.

WAFIC then had the opportunity to appear before 
the Standing Committee in October 2019. While 
the timeline for the Committee delivering its 
report to Parliament has been extended until late 
October 2020, this has provided an opportunity to 
consider further information. Since then, WAFIC 
has supported Western Rock Lobster in developing 
a principles-based legislative approach to improved 
access rights. The policy document was supported by 
WAFIC’s Resource Access Advisory Committee and 
the WAFIC Board and subsequently submitted to the 
Standing Committee.

The Resource Access Advisory Committee has 
also been working on a number of other key 
policy areas including allocation and re-allocation 

under Integrated Fisheries Management (IFM) 
and operational procedures to reach consensus in 
industry led management reform. 

The recent kick-off for a process to develop a harvest 
strategy for the West Coast Demersal Scalefish 
Resource is a key milestone for the recovery of this 
resource. Halfway through the 20-year recovery we 
finally have the opportunity to carefully articulate 
the control rules around keeping the catch (and 
total mortality) of each sector within their defined 
benchmark levels, as prescribed under IFM. 

Getting clear benchmarks, performance indicators 
and decision rules described in the harvest strategy 
will pave the way for more transparent and proactive 
management of all sectors, solidify the recovery and 
restore equity and viability to the commercial sector. 
We then need to continue to strive for improved 
estimates of real time recreational catch and effort 
to complement the existing reporting framework. 
The need for these real time estimates has been 
highlighted by the vast expansion in recreational 
effort in recent months due to border closures and 
Western Australians holidaying in our regions.

Dr Matt Pember  
Resource Access Officer

Resource 
Access
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Throughout the year industry communications and stakeholder engagement have been focussed on unifying the industry and 
consolidating its position as a key economic driver, employment generator and regional development catalyst for Western Australia.

The emergence of COVID-19 dominated the second 
half of the year and saw WAFIC step into its leadership 
role and bring the industry and our key stakeholders 
together to determine the impacts and develop 
a recovery plan, which resulted in a $1.3 million 
financial assistance package of fee deferrals, waivers 
and other support measures being provided by the WA 
Government.

From an industry perspective, this support package 
was always seen as a hand-up, more than a 
hand-out for the State’s fishers, pearlers and 
aquaculture farmers and was an important element 
for the industry’s long-term recovery and market 
re-connection.

As we emerge from COVID-19, WAFIC is already 
working with industry on a number of development 
initiatives including opportunities to diversify export 
markets and expand sales pipelines.

Research and development
COVID-19 highlighted the need for quality research 
and up-to-date reports and information to fully 
understand the dynamics which were occurring in 
this fast-moving and constantly changing operating 
environment.

As a result, WAFIC undertakes its own research 
programs wherever possible and is currently 
engaged with a research internship with the 
University of WA to identify some of the specific 
industry impacts of COVID-19, as well as examples of 
innovation opportunities which emerged as a result 
of managing through the pandemic.

Seafood WA
Building on the work undertaken in previous years 
by the Building Community Support sub-committee, 
WAFIC is building a new communications platform to 
share information with seafood consumers and the 
broader community.

Once developed, Seafood WA will share news and 
information on the commercial seafood industry 
directly with the community, so they can gain a better 
understanding of the industry’s role in sustainability, 
economic development and employment.

It will also inform on the inter-generational 
fishing families that populate Western Australia’s 
coastal communities and their commitment to 
healthy oceans.

Industry Communications and 
Stakeholder Engagement

This objective has seen WAFIC engaged in several 
major legislative change issues, including private 
property rights, changes to the licencing of rock 
lobsters and proposed amendments to workplace 
safety and industrial manslaughter legislation.

WAFIC has played a consultative role in these matters 
and has served as a core communications channel 
for sharing information on the issues and their 
development.

By stepping into this role, WAFIC has been able to 
position the seafood industry as a valuable economic 
pillar for the State and highlight the industry’s 
status as a major regional development catalyst 
and employer. 

$1.3 million 
in financial assistance  

from the WA Government
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Communicating across a diverse audience
WAFIC shares its messages through a number of targeted channels.

Media and social media
Media is an important part of sharing valuable 
messages and comments on important topics. It can 
also be a lot of fun and help highlight the celebratory 
nature of seafood when the media get into the spirit, 
including a regional radio producer who wrote and 
sang a song about WA’s fisheries while on air.

Community engagement
Helping the community understand the seafood 
industry’s role and its desire for healthy sustainable 
oceans is critical to the long-term success of the 
industry, so we invest heavily into opportunities 
which allow us to meet with communities and share 
our stories. 

These events are also a great opportunity for us to 
promote the importance of buying local seafood, 
as well as showcasing some of WA’s lesser-known, 
but delicious seafood varieties.

Meetings and workshops
We are still a little old school with our need for 
face-to-face meetings, but the industry is built 
on handshakes and personal relationships. 
It’s our heritage.

In addition to our official meetings, the Chairman 
and Chief Executive undertake a program of 
regional briefings, commonly known as ‘listening 
tours’. These events allow us to meet with 
members on their home-turf and hear first-hand 
what is important and how we can work together. 
These meetings are valuable tools for the 
development of our industry.

Industry alliances
WAFIC’s team has a wide range of alliances across 
other related industry sectors, including agriculture, 
regional development, industry partnerships, marine 
science, transport and industrial relations.

These partnerships allow us to gain leverage 
for broader consultation and to share messages 
across like-minded organisations. These alliances 
underpinned some of our success in navigating the 
industry through COVID-19 impacts. 

Industry communications
Our members, licence holders and industry partners 
are at the heart of all we do. It’s why we exist, so our 
industry communications drives a large part of our 
messaging which includes emails, News Flashes, 
social media activity and a monthly newsletter to 
more than 2400 subscribers.

Government and regulatory authorities
WAFIC works closely with a range of Federal and 
State Government departments as well as related 
regulatory agencies. These teams engage through 
teleconferences, meetings and video-conferences to 
ensure WAFIC has access to a high level of accurate 
information and can manage through effective 
relationships.

These relationships underpin many of our major 
initiatives, research projects and communications 
ventures. 

Non-Government Organisations (NGOs)
As a not-for-profit organisation, WAFIC, is keen to 
develop effective relationships with other NGOs 
to ensure we are not working in isolation and can 
leverage allied programs and funding opportunities.

WAFIC retains very strong relationships with 
key bodies including the Fisheries Research and 
Development Corporation, Seafood Industry Australia 
and its interstate counterparts. 
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Building 
Community  
Support – 
Seafood WA

As one of Western Australia’s key economic 
pillars, a catalyst for regional development 
and a primary employer in many coastal 
communities, the commercial seafood 
industry is committed to informing 
the community on its achievements, 
challenges, vision and building 
‘social licence’.

It’s also important that we provide ways to connect 
with the broader community to help them better 
understand the need to support the WA seafood 
industry and the importance of buying local produce.

We do this through a number of ways, including 
participation in forums, events, media releases, 
social media posts and sharing stories about the 
industry, healthy oceans, sustainable fisheries and 
the inter-generational families that underpin the 
industry and its heritage.

WA Seafood Industry Awards

The Awards were presented across the 14 categories:

People’s Choice Fish and Chips Award Pinjarra Fish & Chips

Fish & Chips Award Ocean and Paddock

Seafood Restaurant Award Cook and Mason

Seafood Business (Small) Award Fins Seafood Factory (Also won the national award)

Seafood Business (Large) Award Endeavour Foods

Safety Award Paspaley Pearling Company (Also won the 
national award)

Research Development & Extension Award Australian Council of Prawn Fisheries  
& Australian Prawn Farmers Association

Environment Award Mendolia Seafoods (Also won the national award)

People Development Award Indian Ocean Fresh Australia

Seafood Industry Producer Award BP Fishing

Seafood Industry Promotion Award Don Hancey

Deckhand Award (This award is exclusive to WA) Joel Benn

Young Achievers Award Justine Arnold (Also won the national award)

Michael Kailis Leadership Award Jim Mendolia

The industry came together in July to celebrate 
category winners of the 2019 WA Seafood 
Industry Awards.

The Awards, recognising Western Australian 
seafood industry achievements and excellence 
was opened by the Minister for Fisheries, 
and attended by more than 350 participants of 
the seafood and fishing industries as well as key 
stakeholder groups.

Held every second year, the awards are an important 
event in the seafood industry calendar and is one of 
the special annual opportunities to bring industry 
members together to celebrate and acknowledge our 
achievements. 

Winners of each award category were automatically 
escalated into the Australian Seafood Industry Awards, 
which were held in Melbourne in conjunction with the 
2019 Seafood Directions Conference. Four WA winners 
also took out the national award category.
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Young achiever takes top award
Justine Arnold of Geraldton-based Indian Ocean Fresh 
Australia (IOFA) was awarded the Young Achievers Award at 
the 2019 Western Australian Seafood Industry Awards.

Born into a crayfishing family, Justine continued her 
interest in the seafood industry by gaining employment as 
a Fish Feeder with IOFA when the company started its first 
commercial aquaculture operation in 2008. From that point, 
Justine’s drive and enthusiasm for the industry and personal 
development has continued, as she completed a Diploma 
in the Seafood Industry as well as a Bachelor of Marine 
Science with Honours. After 11 years of employment at IOFA, 
Justine has worked her way up to the position of Production 
Manager and is actively engaged in encouraging other young 
people and university students into the industry.

Joel keeps an eye on the boss during 
an abalone harvest

From deckhand to skipper
An ongoing passion, commitment and a 
willingness to take on challenges that make 
a positive contribution to the seafood industry 
saw Western Australian abalone deckhand, 
Joel Benn, take home the inaugural Deckhand 
Award at the 2019 Western Australian Seafood 
Industry Awards.

As a new category in 2019, the Deckhand 
Award is a WA-only accredited award, 
which was established to recognise the 
contributions and achievements of those at 
the coalface of the seafood industry.

Working under the watchful eye of skipper, 
Marc Payne, Joel has shown exceptional 
leadership towards the future of WA’s seafood 
industry and has furthered his learning with 
his own skippers certification.

Jim Mendolia leads the industry
For many people, Jim Mendolia is a cornerstone for 
the WA fishing industry, so it was no surprise to see his 
leadership, innovation and dedication to the seafood industry 
recognised when he won the prestigious Michael Kailis 
Leadership Award at the 2019 Western Australian Seafood 
Industry Awards.

Not just a fisher, but also a businessman, this second-
generation Sicilian fisherman is still actively involved in 
the daily catch and processing operations, as well as the 
business and promotions of his favoured sardines.

Jim was the driver for establishing the Fremantle Sardine 
Festival in 1990, which ran for more than a decade and is still 
a regular face at industry events, workshops and promotions. 
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Eyes on the coast
The WA Fishing Industry Council and its seafood 
industry members teamed up with the WA Police 
(WAPOL) and Australia’s border security forces 
to provide a new layer of security for the State’s 
expansive coastline.

With 20,000 kilometres of isolated coastline, Western 
Australia is in a vulnerable position from illegal 
activity, drug imports and invasive species. 

Under the new agreement, the WA Police and WA’s 
commercial seafood industry partners are working 
together to ensure there are regular ‘eyes on the 
water’ watching for unlawful activities and protecting 
our shorelines. 

The newly developed partnership is an important one 
to help fight the war, not only on criminal activity, but 
biosecurity risks in WA waters.

The partnership is already yielding results, including 
a $1 billion drug seizure onboard a yacht after WA 
Police were alerted to suspicious activity by local 
fishing vessels.

Pictured (L to R) are: WA Police Commissioner, 
Chris Dawson; Former WAFIC CEO, Alex Ogg; 
Former WAFIC Chair, Dr Ron Edwards; and Deputy 
Commissioner, Col Blanch.

18ANNUAL REPORT 2019-20 | WAFIC



Octopus and Sea Cucumber 
awarded MSC certification
Western Australia’s commitment to gold standard 
sustainability certification has seen two more 
fisheries sign up to the prestigious Marine 
Stewardship Council (MSC) certification, which 
highlights the highest level of sustainability a fishery 
can achieve.

WA’s world-leading octopus and sea cucumber 
fisheries brings to 10, the total number of WA 
fisheries now certified by MSC.

This is a major achievement as the sea cucumber 
certification is the only sea cucumber fishery in the 
world to achieve MSC certification, with the octopus 
fishery only the second octopus fishery in the world 
to attain MSC certification.

Both fisheries are now eligible to carry the MSC’s 
trademark blue tick logo, providing assurance 
to seafood buyers and consumers worldwide 
that the seafood is fully traceable back to a 
sustainable fishery.

Old man retires from the sea
Fishing is often characterised by its 
inter-generational families with the old teaching 
the young and bringing them into the industry.

Fishing stalwart, Tony Spinella is no different and 
as a tribute to his retirement, he has published 
a book that traces his footsteps from fisher to 
navy sailor, baker, cook, labourer and roadie for 
award-winning actress Ingrid Bergman, before 
the call of the sea lured him back to fishing.

Tony is a pioneer and his book will resonate 
with commercial fisherman today who will 
identify with the underlying messages of 
a love-of-the-sea, confidence, risk taking, 
opportunity and the courage to follow your 
passion. It’s also about the value of sharing your 
journey with family and friends. 

Not surprisingly, you’ll also find some 
sidebar-type stories which reference some of the 
wild encounters during his time in the Northern 
Territory during the 1960s, when sharks were 
plentiful and crocs were large and angry.

Tony Spinella at his 
book launch. 
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Cultural Convergence workshop
WAFIC, Recfishwest and the Department of Primary 
Industries and Regional Development crew had 
an experience of a lifetime when they undertook 
a two day Cultural Convergence Workshop to help 
understand and develop a working knowledge 
needed to value indigenous expertise and 
involvement across all aspects of Australian history – 
including modern development of indigenous fishing.

The workshop offered presentations from Dr Noel 
Nannup and Professor Jenny Hunter about the 
history of Australia’s indigenous people, including 
how Aboriginal people travelled, occupied and 
managed coastal land, sea environments and fish 
resources over a thousand generations on our 
home shores. 

The workshop highlighted the cultural connections 
with land and sea along with the intersection of 
traditional knowledge and contemporary science. 

The sessions provided an incredibly insightful 
educational experience that enhanced an important 
perspective to recognise and accommodate 
Aboriginal culture as a core part of Australia’s sense 
of identity. 

WAFIC, Recfishwest and DPIRD Fisheries staff attended a two-day workshop learning about 
Australia’s indigenous history.
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WA seafood is a  
billion-dollar industry
Research conducted through the Fisheries Research 
and Development Corporation (FRDC) has confirmed 
WA commercial fishing and aquaculture operators 
inject around $1billion dollars into the WA economy 
and create more than 6000 local jobs each year.

The research shows that in 2017-18, fishing and 
aquaculture contributed $989 million dollars to the 
WA economy and injected an additional $394 million 
into the broader Australian economy.

The commercial seafood sector also employs 
thousands of Western Australians, with the research 
showing the sector provides 6,281 full-time 
equivalent jobs, contributing $438 million to 
household incomes across the State. Another 2,857 
full time jobs are generated by the WA seafood 
industry in the rest of Australia. Importantly, many of 
these jobs are in regional communities.

The report demonstrates the local seafood industry’s 
crucial role as a major employer and economic 
contributor to WA and the nation and provides a 
strong foundation for our industry to provide further 
jobs and economic contributions for generations 
to come.

“ WA’s commercial fishing and aquaculture 
operators inject around $1billion dollars 
into the State economy.”

$1 billion
in economic impact

9000 

jobs created
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Sector Body 
Updates

Abalone Industry Association of WA

The Western Australian Abalone Fishery 
has entered a year of uncertainty with 
COVID-19 creating a non-existent market 
and the inability to ship product easily 
out of Australia. The coming months will 
be challenging, even if market conditions 
change and begin to reopen.

We have entered our fourth year as a Marine 
Stewardship Council (MSC) Fishery and will soon 
conduct our third surveillance audit. While that 
report is yet to be finalised, the Abalone Industry 
Association WA (AIAWA) is of the view that we will 
again comply with the requirements for continued 
certification.

The Fisheries Research Development Corporation 
(FRDC) project 2012-2018, establishing a recovery 
strategy for the Area 3 zone of the WA Abalone 
Managed Fishery has been completed and submitted 
to the FRDC. All participants are working together 
collaboratively towards the recovery strategy 
contained within the final report. We are also looking 
at alternate methods available to obtain finer spatial 
information on stocks which can then be utilised by 
all relevant parties in any decision-making process. 

The Ngari Capes Marine Park has now been in place 
for over a year. In these areas taking of Abalone 
is prohibited. We are now into our second year of 
reduced Total Allowable Commercial Catch (TACC) 
for all species (Greenlip, Brownlip and Roei) in the 
Marine Park. Impacted authorisation holders are still 
awaiting the Ministers first reply on AIAWA’s letter of 
compensation given to the Department of Primary 
Industries and Regional Development (DPIRD) early 

this year. DPIRD has given notification to AIAWA 
that they are only weeks away from their response. 
WAFIC has provided AIAWA an undertaking to aid us 
throughout the compensation process.

The Ocean Reef marina is moving ahead as 
planned. This is devastating news for all Metro Roei 
authorisation holders, with civil works scheduled 
to start later this year. A meeting was recently 
held with DPIRD, John Brindle (West Coast Divers 
Association President), Peter Rogers and myself 
to discuss the Fisheries Ministers Office’s decision 
to use the Voluntary Fisheries Adjustment Scheme 
(VFAS) to address fishing entitlement reductions 
moving forward. 

The Diving Working Group has developed a new code 
of practice for all diving work in WA, which will be 
released later this month and I recommend that 
all should take the time to read and digest the new 
requirements. We would like to thank Peter Rickerby 
and Aaron Irving (PPA Executive Officer) for all their 
work on the Code of Practice prior to our involvement 
in the process.

AIAWA’s continuing partnership with the Southern 
Seafood Producers WA (SSPWA) and our relationship 
with WAFIC has enabled us to retain a strong 
presence within industry, DPIRD and Government 
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during these challenging times. I’d like to thank the 
WA Government in reducing/deferring and waiving 
some fees for us during the COVID-19 pandemic. 
The work by WAFIC was instrumental during the 
negotiations that took place throughout the year. 

I am also proud that within our industry we now 
are moving towards leaving Abalone biomass in 
the water to increase the breeding potential rather 
than seeking deferrals of fishing effort to the 
following quota year. Most other sectors around 
Australia have moved uncaught catches into the 
next year’s allotment. Our conservatorship should 
be commended. 

“ This has been the largest movement of 
Abalone biomass in Australia and its success 
is a win for DPIRD and the Abalone Industry.”

In conjunction with Fisheries Research, the Metro 
Roe’s divers have successfully moved approximately 
10 tonne of abalone out of the Ocean Reef Marina 
development envelope to the Marmion region near 
Trigg Island and there are still a couple of fish 
translocation days to go. 

It has been the largest movement of Abalone biomass 
in Australia and its success is a win for DPIRD and our 
Abalone Industry. 

The Minister has now created a committee to deliberate 
on VFAS for the Ocean Reef Marina development and 
we are currently seeking application from affected 
licence holders. Applications close on 30 November and 
negotiations will commence at that stage.

Lastly, I’d like to thank our committee members for 
their support and guidance over this testing period. 

Arnold Piccoli 
CHAIR – Abalone Industry Association of WA Fourth year 

as a Marine Stewardship 
Council (MSC) Fishery – Abalone 

Industry Association WA
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Aquaculture Council of WA 
The Aquaculture Council of WA (ACWA) 
provides a representational role between 
industry and the government in relation to 
policy, legislation development and specific 
aquaculture. 

With the support of the Department of Primary 
Industries and regional development (DPIRD) and 
the WA Fishing Industry Council (WAFIC), ACWA has 
progressed the following over the past 12 months: 

Albany Shellfish Hatchery 
WAFIC has generously provided ACWA with funds 
to employ an Executive Officer based in Albany to 
service the Hatchery Advisory Committee and to 
provide administrative assistance and governance 
arrangements for the Hatchery Operator. 

The Hatchery became fully operational last year, 
with a concurrent increase in the number of 
aquaculture operators seeking to grow edible shellfish 
across the State which will assist with regional 
economic growth and employment opportunities. 

The Executive Officer’s hours have been expanded, 
with WAFIC’s support, to increase engagement with, 
and support of the WA shellfish sector at this time 
of expansion.

ACWA Funding
Since 2010 ACWA operational funding has remained 
at $50,000 per annum, which is significantly below 
the requirements of a growing industry. It is hoped 
that additional resources can be made available 
following the current funding hiatus. Again, in the 
interim WAFIC have supported ACWA with additional 
funding in order to maintain the current level of 
operation.

WA Shellfish Quality Assurance Program 
All shellfish farmers in WA growing edible molluscs 
are required to have their grow out sites approved 
under the WA Shellfish Quality Assurance Program 
(WASQAP), administered by the Department of 
Health under the guidance of the Federal Australian 
Shellfish Quality Assurance program. The program is 
complex and expensive for current farmers to comply 
with, and as such, ACWA negotiated with DPIRD for 
the provision of additional resources to be made 
available to assist industry and the Department of 
Health in the administration of the program.

On the back of lobbying by ACWA and WAFIC, 
DPIRD provided funding for the development of 
a Western Australia Shellfish Quality Assurance 
Program (WASQAP) to assist shellfish farmers in 
required under WASQAP to obtain approval by the 
WA Health Department. In addition, Government 

announced the employment of a qualified scientist 
to provide technical assistance around WASQAP 
to industry and to act as a Liaison Officer between 
industry and the Health Department in managing the 
requirements of the WASQAP. 

Aquaculture Leases
In October 2019, DPIRD released the draft 
paper ‘Principles for Grant and Management 
of Aquaculture Leases in Coastal Waters of 
Western Australia’, which proposed lease fee 
increases. By way of response, the ACWA Board 
engaged a research consultancy, Lucid Economics, 
to benchmark lease fees in other Australian 
jurisdictions. Both the work undertaken by Lucid and 
ACWA staff indicated that the Western Australian 
approach to fees and charges would benefit 
from review.

Subsequent negotiations between ACWA and 
DPIRD over the ensuing eight months resulted 
in more favourable lease fees and terms being 
agreed, although the final rates and conditions 
are yet to be published. We understand the final 
document ‘Principles for Grant and Management 
of Aquaculture Leases in Coastal Waters of 
Western Australia’ has been approved by the 
Minister for Fisheries and will soon be published on 
DPIRD’s website.
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“Significant input from ACWA into the Aquaculture 
Development Plan for Western Australia will hopefully 
provide some good outcomes for industry.”

Aquaculture Development Plan for 
Western Australia
In October 2019, DPIRD invited ACWA to comment 
on the draft Aquaculture Development Plan for 
Western Australia.

Significant input from ACWA over the ensuing 
eight months was required and resulted in many 
iterations, the resulting final draft will hopefully 
provide some good outcomes for industry. The draft 
document was posted to the DPIRD website for 
public comment from industry on Tuesday 7th July 
2020, for six months with the final launch at a 
date thereafter. 

In October 2020, the Chair, Ian Stagles announced 
his retirement from the role. Ian’s knowledge of 
the industry, both in practice and policy and his 
understanding of the political landscape was greatly 
appreciated by the ACWA Board. 

Paul Beeson  
Executive Officer – Aquaculture Council of WA
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Pearl Producers Association
2020 was a year to remember for pearling, 
and hopefully next year will be a better one.

The onset of the COVID-19 pandemic has been a 
major disruption, not only with the disappearance 
of pearl markets overnight, but also with the many 
restrictions that were put in place to mitigate the 
spread of COVID-19.

With the closing of the entire Kimberley region 
including the towns of Broome and Derby for 
almost two months, under the Commonwealth 
Biosecurity Act, which made the closure subject to 
Commonwealth jurisdiction, we found ourselves 
locked out from accessing our fishery and our pearl 
farms for some time. What is more, although in a 
State context the movement of essential industries 
between regions was provided for, initially the 
commonwealth definition of essential industries 
did not include fishing and aquaculture (as it was 
in the State definition) and so pearling were largely 
precluded from reaching our farms from outside the 
Kimberley on this basis too. Today, we still have to 
negotiate the different systems between states as we 
cross into WA from the NT and vice versa, but at least 
with the Good 2 Go system there is more clarity and 
certainty than there was.

The onset of the COVID-19 travel restrictions also 
all but precluded the ability for pearl technicians 
to enter Australia. Without pearl technicians and 
their expert technical knowledge, the seeding and 
the harvest of pearl oysters for their pearls simply 
could not happen. We were fortunate that both the 
WA government and the Commonwealth government 
provided much appreciated assistance, to help bring 
these essential workers into Australia from Japan. 

Currently Pearl Producers Association (PPA) 
members are harvesting this year’s pearls. The 
harvest is a busy time of year for pearl producers, 
with the harvest of pearls, the re-seeding of oysters 
and transportation of seeded oysters to farms, being 
some of the concurrent activities that take place 
during this time of year. We are hoping that the 
Christmas period will see some improvement in the 
market for high quality Australian South Sea Pearls.

Notwithstanding that the transition of the 
management framework set up by Pearling Act 1990 
into the new Aquatic Resource Management Act 
(ARMA) framework, has slowed down, in anticipation 
of the passing of some necessary technical 
amendments through Parliament – the pearling 
Industry remains poised to re-establish the process 
of transition later this year. 

This year has also been a big year for legislative 
review, and in addition to the ARMA, we have seen a 
number of key pieces of legislation, being reviewed 
for implementation including the Industrial Relations 
Legislation Amendment Bill 2020 and the Workers’ 
Compensation and Injury Management Amendment 
(COVID-19 Response) Bill, the introduction of a 
number of provisions within the Conservation 
and Land Management (Calm) Act and also the 
completion of an Occupational Diving Code of 
Practice under the Occupational Health, Safety & 
Welfare Act, all of which the PPA provided input. 

The PPA has also been working with our colleagues 
both at SIA and also in WA to implement ways to 
improve resource security for pearlers, so as to 
ensure access and conditions with respect to water 
leases are appropriate, and are subject to a clear, 
transparent and equitable lease fee process which 
will assist the pearling industry to continue to invest 
in pearling activities.

Unlike many other sectors, with the exception on 
one or two farms, all pearling activities (both farms 
and the fishery) are encapsulated in either a State or 
Commonwealth Marine Park. To these ends the PPA 
continues to engage in the Marine Park process not 
only as a member of the NW Commonwealth Marine 
Park Committee, but also consulting with the DBCA 
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on State marine parks including the incorporation 
on the new Buccaneer Archipelago Marine Park in 
the Kimberleys.

This past 2019-20 year has been another busy R&D 
year, with the continued development projects in 
furtherance of the pearling industry R&D plan and 
the sampling work for the Pearl oyster component 
North-West Shoals to Shore Research Programme 
(NWSSRP) which is driven by the Australian institute 
of Marine Science (AIMS). This NWSSRP, which is 
entering its final phases, saw the exposure of a pearl 
oysters at Eighty Mile Beach (the location of the last 
sustainable wildstock pearl oyster fishing ground 
in the world) to seismic energy in a real-world 
seismic survey situation for the purpose of better 
understanding the impact of seismic energy on 
Pinctada maxima pearl oysters and their ecosystem. 
These oysters were subsequently sampled and 
analysed for changes in their health and physiology, 
in order to better understand the nature and scope of 
the effects.

The 2019-20 year also saw the continuation of our 
work in close partnership with WAFIC, and we look 
forward to continuing to work closely with WAFIC in 
the coming year.

Aaron Irving 
Pearl Producers Association Chief Executive Officer

Image courtesy of 
Paspaley Pearling Co.

“ The PPA has also been working to implement ways to improve 
resource security for pearlers, so as to ensure that access and 
conditions with respect to water leases are appropriate.”
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“WRL has undertaken a 
thorough process to develop 
the details surrounding 
resource access security for all 
Western Australian fisheries.”

Western Rock Lobster
COVID-19 impacts on western rock lobster 
fishery
COVID-19 broke out during the Chinese New Year 
peak demand period (January 2020) in WRL’s largest 
market for western rock lobster. The Chinese 
reaction to contain the deadly outbreak had an 
immediate effect on the western rock lobster 
industry, with processors requesting that all fishing 
cease due to the lack of demand for western 
rock lobster. 

WRL led a consultative process with fishers, 
investors and processors to understand the issues 
and mitigate the disruptions to its Members. WRL 
used its close working relationship with government 
to communicate key messaging and secure preferred 
outcomes sought by its Members.

This included a comprehensive three-week 
consultation process, headed by WRL’s expert Total 
Allowable Commercial Catch (TACC) Committee, 
with WRL Members and experts to determine 
industry’s preferred response to the serious 
impacts of the COVID-19 outbreak in China. 
This process resulted in the WRL Board resolving 
to formally submit two recommendations to the 
WA Minister for Fisheries on behalf of industry. 
Both recommendations had demonstrably strong 
industry support.

Minister Tinley approved for implementation the 
recommendations made by WRL and proposed a 
support package which addressed the industry’s 
primary concerns of business certainty, maintaining 
cashflow, managing quota and preserving value. 
This allowed WRL to undertake further and 
comprehensive industry consultation to develop the 
details of that support package, with those further 
details also approved by Minister Tinley. 
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WRL’s strategic initiatives proposal
At its October 2019 meeting, the WRL Board 
reaffirmed its highest priority commitment to 
security of access rights and resolved to explore the 
concepts of independent funding of WRL by industry, 
increasing local capacity for lobster research and 
improving local supply. Following industry showing 
its support for these concepts at the 2019 West Coast 
Rock Lobster Annual Management Meetings later 
that month, WRL began to develop the detail of these 
strategic initiatives. 

Since October 2019, WRL has continued to undertake 
genuine and extensive industry consultation to 
develop the strategic initiatives. The feedback 
provided by industry has resulted in several iterations 
of the strategic initiatives, with the initiatives having 
evolved into their current form of the “Strategy for 
security, independence and community connection 
for the western rock lobster industry”.

In particular, WRL has undertaken a thorough 
process to develop the details surrounding resource 
access security for all Western Australian fisheries, 
including seeking input on issues affecting the 
individual fisheries. This has included engaging 
experts to develop a principles-based legislative 
approach to resource access security and a secure 
fishery resource access rights policy paper. 

These documents were endorsed by the WRL and 
WAFIC Boards, with the latter document being 
submitted by WAFIC on behalf of the Western 
Australia fishing industry to the Legislative Council’s 
Inquiry into Private Property Rights to complement 
the fishing industry’s earlier submissions to 
that Inquiry. 

WRL has also engaged the expert services of Quinn 
Emanuel to produce tracked changes to the Aquatic 
Resources Management Act 2016 and the Fisheries 
Adjustment Schemes Act 1987 to give effect to the 
policy paper, with those tracked changes also to be 
submitted to the Inquiry into Private Property Rights. 

The Strategy’s complementary initiatives of industry 
self-funding WRL directly (to facilitate genuine 
co-management and provision of additional 
Member services), a WA based and industry led 
Research Network (to provide greater resources 
for local research) and strengthening the industry’s 
community connection (by increasing the availability 
and accessibility of lobster to the local community, 
collaborating to benefit other sectors such as 
tourism and hospitality and continuing industry’s 
global leadership in sustainability) have also 
continued to be developed, with industry feedback 
sought following each new version resolved by 
the WRL Board. The Strategy is supported by due 

diligence reference papers that were requested 
by industry, have been developed by independent 
experts and guided by industry consultation. 

Industry Partnership Agreement 
with FRDC
WRL continues to prioritise its industry research 
and development, and has recently submitted 
six new project proposals to FRDC. The aims of 
these projects include increasing the community’s 
understanding, trust and acceptance for the western 
rock lobster industry; increasing the professional 
capabilities of the western rock lobster industry; 
minimising plastic in the western rock lobster 
industry; and extending WRL’s research and 
development to the western rock lobster industry 
and wider community. 

These projects will complement the two programs 
and three projects currently co-ordinated by WRL, 
in addition to the eight projects WRL currently 
co-funds. 

Coastal Tours 
WRL continuously strives to provide effective 
engagement, representation and communications 
to ensure members and stakeholders are informed, 
have the capacity to engage with industry and are 
aware of key issues and activities. 

29ANNUAL REPORT 2019-20 | WAFIC



WRL held coastal tours in December 2019, February 
2020 and August 2020 at a variety of port towns and 
cities. These meetings allow WRL Members, fishers 
and stakeholders to discuss a wide range of industry-
related topics and for WRL to update its Members 
on key activities (including the development of the 
strategic initiatives and the Western Australian 
Government’s support package in response to 
COVID-19). Representatives from DPIRD, the banking 
sector and other stakeholders have joined WRL on 
these tours, which has allowed Members to ask 
questions and network with different stakeholders. 

The feedback received during the coastal tours 
provides WRL with updates of Members’ interests and 
concerns, which informs WRL in how best to assist its 
Members, its key activities and its priorities. 

MSC Audit 
The western rock lobster fishery was the first fishery 
certified under the Marine Stewardship Council 
(MSC) program in 2000 and the first fishery to be re-
certified for the fourth time in June 2017. The MSC 
recertification showcases the fishery’s commitment 
to sustainable practices. Third-party accreditation is 
becoming increasingly important in the western rock 
lobster industry as it assists with social licence and 
differentiates products from others on the market. 
The fishery has adapted and evolved to face new and 
existing challenges and demonstrates willingness to 
mitigate against negative environmental interactions. 

Using the MSC framework, the fishery continues to 
monitor, respond and innovate. The western rock 
lobster industry has recently been recommended as 
being eligible to continue to use the MSC certificate 
through to the next surveillance audit of the fishery 
in 2021. 

WRL has also recently funded a pre-assessment 
against the new MSC standards (2.1) to understand 
what aspects the industry may be vulnerable to 
and if there are any information gaps that will 
need resolving to transition to the new standards. 
This pre-assessment will determine whether 
the industry will seek to transition to the new 
standards ahead of schedule. The findings from 
the pre-assessment indicate that the fishery would 
likely pass and potentially achieve higher scores 
for some of the performance indicators under the 
new standards.

Changes at WRL 
As the WRL Board’s priorities and activities continue 
to grow (such as the lobbying for the security of 
resource access, strategic initiatives and increasing 
the community’s trust and awareness of the 
western rock lobster industry), WRL has increased 
its human resourcing to allow it to address those 
tasks in a more timely and significant manner. WRL 
has welcomed an Executive Officer, Marketing and 
Communications Officer, Economist and Project 
Officer to the team, with the WRL Board having also 
approved the additional employment of a Digital 
Technologist.

Terry Lissiman 
Chair – Western Rock Lobster
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Shark Bay Prawn Trawler Operators’ Association
The 2019 Shark Bay Prawn Managed 
Fishery (SBPMF) season ended on 
10 October with a total catch of 1214 tonnes 
of prawns, 202 tonnes of blue swimmer 
crabs and 48 tonnes of scallops. 

While prawn catches have been lower than average 
over the past two years, it was pleasing to see blue 
swimmer crab abundance continue to increase 
and a Total Allowable Commercial Catch (TACC) 
of 650 tonnes approved earlier this year. The 2019 
season included 145 night’s fishing. 

In early 2020, the SBPMF along with the Exmouth 
Gulf Prawn Managed Fishery underwent their first 
Marine Stewardship Council (MSC) re-assessment 
since gaining certification in 2015. These fisheries 
are the first Australian trawl fisheries to be 
assessed under Version 2.1. Time was spent this 
year preparing preliminary documentation for 
the remotely held final audit and re-assessment 
meeting and providing input into the Draft Client 
Report. It is anticipated that final certification will be 
announced by December 2020.

Considerable time has been spent managing the 
impact of COVID-19 this year, including staying 
across travel restrictions for crews to get in and 
out of the regions and seeking financial assistance 
for a range of fees. The SBPTOA sought deferment 
of the SBPMF’s Fisheries Adjustment Scheme 
(FAS) fees jointly with Sea Harvest, explored MSC 
fee relief options and provided input into WAFIC’s 
Fee Relief proposals to Government. We wish to 
acknowledge Minister Tinley, the Department of 
Primary Industries and Regional Development and 
the WA Fishing Industry Council for the support and 
assistance provided to date.

The SBPTOA made representations on a number of 
issues potentially affecting the SBPMF, including 
addressing inadequacies with consultation protocols 
relating to approvals with aquaculture leases 
and developing fisheries. Representations were 
also made in relation to the proposed dredging 
of inner Shark Bay, the Offshore Petroleum 
Exploration Acreage Re lease adjacent to Shark Bay, 
the proposed artificial reef project near Carnarvon 
and the Aquaculture Development Plan for WA.

In March 2020, a project funded jointly by the 
Australian Council of Prawn Fisheries and the 
Fisheries Research and Development Corporation 
(FRDC) was launched which included a series of 
films showcasing Australia’s major prawn fisheries 
including the SBPMF. These are being rolled out 
across a number of social media platforms and 
aim to connect wild catch prawn fisheries with the 
community. The SBPTOA played a significant role in 
assisting the film crew to conduct interviews with 
industry members, Peter Manifis and Recfishwest, 
as well as editing to achieve the final result.

In 2019/20, the SBPTOA’s Executive Officer continued 
as a Director of the Australian Council of Prawn 
Fisheries (ACPF). The ACPF works closely with the 
Fisheries Research Development Corporation (FRDC) 
and research providers to focus resources into 
the Research Development and Extension (RD&E) 
needed to address current priority investment areas 
in Australia’s wild harvest prawn fisheries.

Felicity Horn  
Executive Officer – Shark Bay Prawn Trawler 
Operators’ Association

“While prawn catches have been lower 
than average over the past two years, 
it was pleasing to see blue swimmer 

crab abundance continue to increase.”
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1214 
tonnes of  
prawns

202 
tonnes of  

blue swimmer crabs

48 
tonnes of  
scallops

SBPMF vessel Mary Jane Stella
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Southern Seafood Producers (WA) Association

This, the third Southern Seafood Producers 
(WA) Association (SSPWA)  contribution to 
the WA Fishing Industry Council’s (WAFIC) 
Annual Report, marks another milestone 
for our rapidly expanding organisation.

During 2019-2020, SSPWA has made significant 
progress on a number of fronts, with much more 
planned for the future. In particular, SSPWA will 
continue to proactively represent and grow its 
membership across the south west and southern 
coastal parts of Western Australia.

When SSPWA was formed, significant industry 
stakeholders were unaware of how to contact 
SSPWA in respect of relevant matters. This has now 
changed with SSPWA seen to be a most trusted and 
effective advocate for all matters relating to southern 
fisheries operations in Western Australia.

The Department of Primary Industries and Regional 
Development (DPIRD) has also sought to engage in 
regular dialogue with SSPWA on matters of critical 
importance, particularly in relation to some of the 
more strategic elements as we move into the future. 

Other government agencies are also well aware 
of the fact that SSPWA is the point of contact for 
commercial fishing matters on the State’s south 
and south west coasts. There is an understanding 
that SSPWA is not only seen as a point of contact, 
but also an organisation to be consulted, with when 
advice and feedback on fishing and seafood matters 
is required. This is especially significant given the 
potential for inadequate consultation that may have 
negative consequences across the south west and 
southern coastal locations.

SSPWA will always seek to provide honest, 
frank and appropriate advice at the Ministerial 
and Departmental levels and looks forward to a 
continuation of such in the many years to come.

Some of the significant milestones achieved in the 
previous year, include:

• A vote of confidence by the commercial 
fishers and seafood producers of the south 
and southwest of the State has resulted in 
membership of 95 this year;

• The election of Matt Benson-Lidholm (JP) as 
SSPWA Chair has increased the capacity and 
profile of the organisation; particularly given his 

location on the south coast (Albany). Mr Benson-
Lidholm’s family has commercially fished the 
south coast for generations. His understanding 
of the WA political system is also a great asset 
for the organisation and its members. Of special 
note is the fact that as a former State Legislative 
Council member, he chaired a review of WA’s 
Fish Resources Management Act for a former 
Fisheries Minister;

• The addition of Mrs Alison Bramwell as 
Administration Officer has enabled SSPWA to 
increase organisational capacity, professionalism 
and engagement with members. Her contribution 
over the last 12 months has been outstanding;

• A closer relationship with Fisheries Minister, 
Hon. Peter Tinley; and

• Increased responsibilities as we now represent 
25 commercial fisheries across the south and 
southwest of the State.

The membership of SSPWA makes the organisation 
the largest body with a fee-paying membership in 
WA commercial fisheries. The inclusion of additional 
fisheries under the SSPWA umbrella means the 
Association now represents 25 fisheries.
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The appointment of Hon Peter Tinley as Minister for 
Fisheries some twelve months ago, was welcomed by 
SSPWA, WAFIC and the State’s commercial fishers 
generally. The Minister is a highly regarded State 
MP, with his Legislative Assembly seat of Willagee 
being located close to the heart of WA fisheries 
administration and operations in Fremantle. 

Minister Tinley’s subsequent stewardship and 
representation of WA’s commercial fishing sector, 
particularly within SSPWA’s service area between 
Fremantle and Eucla, has given our members much 
confidence. The Minister has especially focussed on 
seeking advice and feedback from SSPWA members 
in his endeavours to gain a better fishing industry 
perspective. This has particularly been the case with 
his visits to Albany and Esperance, where he has 
acknowledged to SSPWA members that he would 
always take the time to listen to professional fishers 
who took the time to attend his industry meetings. 

One of the first issues the Minister addressed in his 
new portfolio was to allow the South Coast Purse-
Seine Fishery to operate with greater flexibility 
than in previous years. This approach was very 
much appreciated by operators. He also opened the 
Herring G Trap fishery for a short period in 2020. 
Commercial G Trap fishers are hopeful 2021 will see 
a return to normal operations in the fishery.

The proposed State Vision for National Parks 2025 
saw the Department of Biodiversity, Conservation 
and Attractions (DBCA) on the south coast for public 
consultation in Esperance and Albany early in 2020. 
The stated intent of up to 800,000 hectares of state 
marine parks is an enormous figure to contemplate. 
Considerable concerns have, in turn, been raised by 
commercial fishers and seafood producers in general. 
This equates to the closure of an area of some three 
nautical miles out to sea, from the coastline at Eucla, 
nearly all the way to Augusta. 

Strong attendance at both meetings supported the 
SSPWA position that this initiative appeared to have 
no stated objective. In the forums held, members 
passionately expressed the view that such a matter as 
proposed by DBCA should be better understood by all 
involved; especially given that we are at the very first 
stage in the development of further marine parks. 

SSPWA members also make the point that the target 
for Marine Parks Australia (Federally) has been met, 
however staff from DBCA stated they wanted a State 
Marine Park on the south coast. SSPWA members 
believe that Departmental planning has paid no 
attention to the enormous Commonwealth Marine 
Parks commitment that was put in place during 
2018; the negative financial impacts of which have 
been significantly felt by many south coast based 
commercial fishers since.

95 members
representing

25 fisheries
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Interestingly Recfishwest raised the same concerns 
with DBCA. SSPWA also noted international 
conventions relating to world’s best practice in 
Marine Park planning (which Australia is a signatory 
to) states sustainable fisheries should be allowed 
to continue harvesting within most levels of Marine 
Parks. SSPWA has also requested that State Marine 
Park consultation be put on hold during COVID-19. 
DBCA approved this request, which remains current.

The Commonwealth Marine Parks programme had 
a funding package for the assistance of affected 
parties. Called the “Business Assistance Package”, 
three projects have been approved for funding. 
Currently two of these are underway. One is an 
SSPWA Project, with $50,000 funding to undertake 
a pre-feasibility study on the value adding of 
multi-species (existing and new species). While being 
significantly delayed via COVID-19, Mr Brett Hogan 
of Ridge Partners is now undertaking the on the 
ground business assessments, whilst business 
partner Mr Ewan Colquhoun, (both consultants have 
strong backgrounds in value-adding fishery work), 
will be providing information regarding viability 
matters, be they environmental and/or financial. 
The Final Report is due before the end of 2020, 
assisting industry in making its own assessments 
of the various report recommendations. Hopefully 
the report will augur well for commercial fishers 
moving forward.
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The second Commonwealth package provided DPIRD 
with approximately $450,000 funds for a project that 
compares Longline to Demersal gillnet catches. 
This will provide an insight into comparative catches. 
When complete it will inform what the appropriate 
hook conversion ratio should be between hooks and 
demersal gillnet. The third Project of some $960,000 
is for WAFIC to see what opportunities may be 
available for commercial longlining in WA. This project 
is on hold until the DPIRD project is complete.

The Ngari Capes Marine Park compensation 
delay has become a real concern for commercial 
fishers around the Capes region of the southwest. 
Implemented 18 months ago, there has still been no 
compensation paid to any of the affected commercial 
fishers and is now proving to be a financial disaster 
for commercial fishers. All involved are denied 
access to many of their prime fishing spots, without 
any form of payment. To access an economically 
viable catch, they are forced to travel much further 
at a significantly increased cost. SSPWA believes 
that any compensation payable should additionally 
include the equivalent of the lost income for the time 
between 1 April 2019 and the time compensation is 
finally paid. At a time of great commercial hardship, 
whilst the Government is acknowledging the benefits 
of the primary production sector in creating jobs 
and regional growth, the Department of Primary 
Industries and Regional Development appears 
content to sit back and wait. Meanwhile, displaced 

commercial fishers have received no restitution to 
date. Professional fishers deserve so much better! 
At the same time, DPIRD has done a great job in 
developing a Primary Industry Plan for WA’s primary 
producers. This plan identifies the opportunities 
that are presented with strong primary production 
sectors in the regions. This plan fits into part of 
Premier McGowan’s Diversify WA initiative, which 
also identifies primary producers as generators 
of wealth in regional communities. SSPWA looks 
forward to working with the Government to maximise 
the returns to smaller fishing businesses and to the 
broader supply chains, all the way to the retailers 
and many restaurants featuring WA’s wonderful 
fresh seafood. 

COVID-19 has significantly impacted commercial 
fishers’ livelihoods in 2020. Export-focused 
fishers have been particularly vulnerable to the 
impacts of the virus; initially through the Chinese 
market shutdown, which has quickly spread to 
other markets; secondly, through the scarcity of 
airfreight to the markets that remained open and 
finally through the impacts of the ongoing economic 
downturn that has seen prices fall significantly.

Those fisheries that supply the domestic market, 
being the majority of SSPWA fisheries, have also 
felt the economic pain. Closures of restaurants, 
hotels and travel restrictions within WA have seen 
a decimation of the State’s hospitality industry. 

However, we are now seeing a strong resurgence, 
including clear preference for local produce and 
local value-adding, with West Australian’s being 
encouraged to “Wander out Yonder”.

Tourism statistics show that for those looking to 
holiday within Western Australia, whether from WA 
or other parts of Australia, “Good Food, Wine, Local 
Cuisine and Produce” are an important consideration. 
The same can be said of “Beautiful Beaches / Coastal 
Scenery”, which surely must become one of the 
features of promotion for our southern fisheries 
and SSPWA. 

The concept of “The Seafood Coast”, comprising 
the coastal areas from Esperance to Fremantle, 
is also gaining some marketing momentum, 
which SSPWA will be looking to develop further 
with other business sectors such as the State’s 
wine industry. Surprisingly, despite the hype 
about the value generated by recreational fishers 
in regional tourism, statistics show that offering 
water-based activities, or offerings of physical 
activities / sports are not important to those 
planning holidays in Western Australia. 

Source: Food and Wine Tourism in Western 
Australia – Austrade
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During 2019/2020, the SSPWA Board and staff have 
travelled many thousands of kilometres to meet 
and talk with commercial fishers; particularly 
representing the commercial fisher’s perspective to 
governments at a local, State and Commonwealth 
level. More recently, we have become particularly 
adept at online meetings and videoconferences. 
No matter how we connect however, it is critically 
important to note that SSPWA is very appreciative 
of the level of engagement with our members. 
The time taken away from businesses and families 
by all of those seafood producers involved in SSPWA 
administration and promotion of southern and 
south western fisheries, is indicative of a most 
committed professional body. The volume of work 

undertaken since SSPWA’s establishment very much 
demonstrates the wisdom of former WAFIC Chair, 
Hon Kim Chance, and his vision to establish a more 
representative body that would align closely with 
grass roots commercial fishers.

The priority for 2020/21 will be preparing industry 
for the various harvest strategy discussions that are 
currently under way; ensuring that the commercial 
fishing perspective is heard in all negotiations 
and decision making; not merely on the advice 
and advocacy of government departments and the 
recreational lobby. In particular, SSPWA will be 
focusing on bringing to the attention of government 
and the broader community, the importance of the 
commercial fishing sector and the value it creates, 
as well as increasing the linkages with the end-users 
of our products. 

It is especially important that all decision makers 
understand that the State’s commercial fishing 
sector represents the two million seafood consumers 
who do not catch 100% of their own seafood. 
We all have family members in this situation, so 
in essence SSPWA represents consumer families 
of Western Australia, particularly in the regions. 

SSPWA’s formation was due in no small way for the 
need to support these small businesses! Kim Chance 
provided the commitment to fund and support this 
dream and Dr Peter Rogers provided the framework 
upon which to build such. The engine of the 
formation was driven by those from local families, 
especially across the regions from Esperance to the 
metropolitan area. 

SSPWA acknowledges the fact that we stand on the 
shoulders of those who came before us. In so doing 
we acknowledge the efforts of those foundation 
members of SSPWA who this year retired from 
the SSPWA Board. From the Esperance region, 
Ms Manue Daniels; and from the South West, 
Mr Alan Miles. Both have been passionate advocates 
on behalf of southern and southwest fishers, and we 
acknowledge and thank them for their efforts.

We encourage all operators in SSPWA fisheries to 
become involved with the Association. Much more 
can be achieved by industry participants attending 
local meetings, and also by providing feedback to 
regional Board representatives. To realise our true 
potential, we welcome greater industry input. 

“ It is especially important that 
all decision makers understand 
that the State’s commercial 
fishing sector represents 
the two million seafood 
consumers who do not catch 
100% of their own seafood.”
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June 30, 2021 will end the current funding 
commitment to keep SSPWA operating. We are 
currently in negotiations with WAFIC, which is 
in-turn holding discussions with the Government/
Fisheries Minister to extend the funding of SSPWA 
for another three years. In the meantime, we will 
continue to mature and perform on behalf of all 
SSPWA members, as well as the broader business 
and domestic consumption sectors.

On behalf of the Chair, Matt Benson-Lidholm; 
Executive Officer, Don Nicholls; Administration 
Officer, Alison Bramwell; and the Board of Southern 
Seafood Producers (WA) Association, we thank 
you and look forward to further representing 
your interests in the remainder of 2020 and 
throughout 2021.

Matt Benson-Lidholm JP 
SSPWA Chair

2 million
seafood consumers

More promotion of 
seafood as a 

WA tourism 
experience

“ To realise our true potential,  
we welcome greater 
industry input.”

39ANNUAL REPORT 2019-20 | WAFIC



Industry 
Update

Food Alliance WA

New Food Alliance brings together key 
primary industries.

Food security and job opportunities became hot 
topics across Western Australia’s primary industries 
in March and saw a new network of WA’s fishers, 
farmers and food producers rise to the occasion to 
mitigate industry issues generated through COVID-19 
and border closures.

Established in 2019, with the support of the 
Department of Primary Industries and Regional 
Development (DPIRD), Food Alliance WA brings 
together the combined resources of a large network of 
primary industries organisations to ensure a reliable 
and safe supply of food for all Western Australians. 
WAFIC is a foundation member of Food Alliance WA 
and was active in its cross-sectoral Building Trust in 
Primary Industries research project late last year.

The ‘Jobs in primary production’ initiative was formed 
as part of the industry’s response to COVID-19 
impacts in the wake of the State Government’s 

confirmation that food, seafood and agricultural 
supply chains were classified as an essential service. 
It also reflected the special needs and flexibility 
required by primary industries workers to move 
interstate through borders and across intrastate 
boundaries to ensure food security.

Despite the domestic benefits of ‘essential industry’ 
status, broader international travel restrictions 
still have an impact on the sourcing of skilled and 
unskilled labour for the State’s seafood industry 
and other primary producers, particularly overseas 
travellers, backpackers and seasonal workers.

WAFIC is a foundation member of 
Food Alliance WA, which launched its jobs 
website platform in March 2020.
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As part of its mitigation, Food Alliance WA 
successfully lobbied to allow those employed in 
production, processing and distribution to have a 
capacity to move freely across borders under strict 
health protocols without the necessity to quarantine.

The group also launched a new website to inform 
skilled and unskilled workers about job opportunities 
and work-based requirements across the sector.

The JobsinWAFoodandAg.com website provides 
information on job opportunities across the State and 
how to find work in WA’s food production, farming 
and fishing sectors, with an aim to link job seekers 
with employers in the primary sectors so they can 
make direct contact regarding employment.

The Food Alliance WA group includes membership 
from the Department of Primary Industries and 
Regional Development, Grain Industry Association 
WA, Vegetables WA, WA Fishing Industry Council, 
Wines of WA, The Livestock Collective, Safe 
Farmers WA, Buy West Eat Best and the Grower 
Group Alliance.

Building trust in Primary Industries

The Food Alliance WA, Trust in Primary 
Production project was designed to establish a 
baseline understanding of the level of community 
trust in Western Australian primary industries, 
share insights from best practice approaches 
to building and maintaining social licence, and 
identify opportunities for industries to align and 
collaborate on future trust building initiatives.

The project research focussed on three key areas 
during September-November 2019:

1. Establish a baseline understanding of 
community trust in WA primary industries 
through quantitative and qualitative data 
collection and analysis of both the community 
and the industry’s perceptions.

2. Conduct a desktop review of current issues, 
industry data and research efforts, and social 
licence initiatives from around Australia and 
best practice international case studies.

3. Conduct a second Masterclass in December 
2019 to present the project outcomes and 
establish industry commitment to future trust 
building initiatives.

Key Insights
Key insights from the report include:

• A need to maintain ongoing conversations 
with key stakeholders to retain a current 
understanding on areas of common concern.

• Ongoing ‘listening’ and engagement 
are essential to any effort to build and 
maintain trust.

• Industry needs to learn to listen to how it 
sounds, when it is defending an industry 
practice that is challenged by community 
expectations.

• Industry can do much to improve how it 
communicates with the wider community and 
how it develops consistent and clear messages 
the public can relate to and understand.

• There is broader support for the primary 
industries sector from a range of 
influencers and thought leaders.

• A need to engage third party and independent 
advocates who can present clear facts and 
information about the primary industries sector.

• People want to know more about what we do 
and they want transparency about how we do it.
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Marine Planning
State 
After many years in process, State Marine Parks, 
including Eighty Mile Beach Marine Park; Ngari 
Capes Marine Park; Lalang-garram Marine Parks 
(Horizontal Falls / Camden Sound / North Lalang-
garram); Yawuru Ngulagan/Roebuck Bay Marine 
Park; North Kimberley Marine Park; proposed 
Buccaneer Archipelago Marine Park; and the 
Montebello Islands Marine Park – are now in motion. 

In February 2019 the Government announced 
its “Plan For Our Parks”. This plan included the 
proposed extension to the Marmion Marine Park and 
a proposed marine park on the South Coast. A series 
of initial briefings were conducted by Department of 
Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions in selected 
South Coast towns in March 2020, however due to 
the coronavirus there has been little progress on 
these initiatives.

The Department of Primary Industries and Regional 
Development (DPIRD) advised last year that a 

number of parks would be gazetted soon, including 
commercial fishing prohibition zones. It was 
further advised that these zones would not come 
into effect for 12 months from the gazettal date. 
The 12-month grace period was to allow any 
compensation claims under the Fishing and Related 
Industries Compensation (Marine Reserves Act 1997) 
(FRICM Act) to be made. There have been substantial 
and protracted delays in processing fishers claims 
due to uncertainty surrounding the application and 
interpretation of the FRICM Act provisions and to 
date, no fishers claims have been settled.

Commonwealth 
The Commonwealth Government Marine Reserve 
Network came into effect on 1 July 2018.

Accompanying the marine reserve initiative was a 
grants program open to the fishing industry.

WAFIC successfully applied for three grants under 
the Marine Park Grants totalling $1.373 million. 

These are:

• A project to financially assist temperate shark 
fishers’ transition from demersal gill nets to 
demersal longline; 

• A research project on the long-term use of 
demersal gill nets and demersal longline in WA’s 
temperate shark fisheries; and 

• A pre-feasibility study for a multi-species, value-
adding facility for southern fisheries.

The latter two projects are underway, albeit delayed 
due to the coronavirus. 

The project to financially assist fishers to transition 
from demersal gill nets to demersal longline has 
been deferred pending the outcome of research 
project on demersal gill nets and demersal longlines. 

Similarly, programs on education and compliance 
on the marine parks have been delayed by the 
coronavirus. 

“ After many years in 
process, State Marine 
Parks are now in motion.”
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WAFIC successfully
applied for three
grants totalling

$1.373 million
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The past year has seen the continued 
rollout of the State Government’s 
$14.5million Marine Stewardship Council 
(MSC) program – a joint Department 
of Primary Industries and Regional 
Development (DPIRD) and WAFIC initiative 
announced by the Minister for Fisheries in 
September 2012. 

The objectives of this initiative are to: 

• Enhance public confidence in the sustainable 
management of WA’s commercial fisheries; 

• Meet retail need to only serve fish from fisheries 
either independently assessed or in a fishery 
improvement project; and 

• Assess the state’s fisheries against an 
independent and science-based standard. 

The initiative subjects all WA fisheries to a MSC 
pre-assessment which determines if a specific 
fishery can successfully pass a full MSC assessment. 

Confidential pre-assessment reports allow those 
fisheries that don’t meet the necessary benchmark 
to undertake a fisheries improvement program (FIP). 

Marine Stewardship

FIPs are a voluntary and transparent way of helping 
fisheries improve their sustainable management 
practices. A policy is being developed to enable 
fisheries to enter into FIPs. 

Government funding is made available for those 
fisheries identified as ready to enter full MSC 
assessment through a voluntary process. In addition, 
the state also pays the costs of the first annual audit 
of the fishery following MSC certification. Carriage of 
the project is through a Certification Advisory Panel 
made up of DPIRD (Fisheries), WAFIC, Recfishwest 
and MSC representatives. 

The Fisheries Research Development Corporation 
(FRDC) has funded a WAFIC project to develop 
extension and chain of custody initiatives through 
the supply chain.

The MSC has appointed Matt Watson as its 
WA-based outreach officer. Matt is responsible 
for raising awareness and support for the MSC 
program across a broad range of interest groups 
including the supply chain and the community.

The website www.wamsc.com.au, funded by a 
FRDC grant, provides detailed information about 
the MSC initiative designed to enhance industry 
communication and community engagement. 

2019/20 highlights:
• At an event presided over by the Minister for 

Fisheries, the interim Managed Octopus fishery 
was certified on 4 November 2019. 

• At an event presided over by DPIRD 
Deputy Director General Heather Brayford, 
the Sea Cucumber fishery was certified on 
10 December 2019.

• Shark Bay and Exmouth Gulf Prawn fisheries 
held a combined 4th year annual audit and 
reassessment on 25 February 2020 and have 
closed out all the conditions set for their 
fisheries. 

• Attendance at the Executive Committee 
Sustainable Fisheries Association meeting and 
subsequent meeting with the MSC in London in 
early January 2020 in London on development 
and content of a revised MSC fisheries standard.

• Development and adoption of a harvest 
strategy for the Abrolhos Island trawl fishery in 
preparation for entering into MSC assessment in 
late 2020.

• In late June 2020 the release of the MSC/WAFIC 
commissioned CSIRO report on a cost-benefit 
analysis of WA certified fisheries. 
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• In April 2020, the MSC, in response to the 
coronavirus impacts on seafood trade, announced 
an automatic six-month extension for all fishery 
certificates and six-month extension for all action 
plan timelines and requirements for annual audits.

• In April 2020 the Western Australian Government 
announced that for 2020/2021 the State 
Government would cover the costs of fisheries 
seeking to recertify and the costs of MSC audits.

• On the back of these announcements the Peel 
Harvey estuarine and Deep Sea Crab fisheries 
determined that they would seek reassessment 
against the MSC standard for a second term. 

Guy Leyland  
WAFIC-MSC Industry Project Leader

Octopus and Sea Cucumber fisheries have taken WA’s MSC-certified fisheries to a total of 10, with others.

There are now

10 MSC fisheries
in Western Australia

“ In response to the coronavirus impacts on seafood trade, MSC announced 
an automatic six-month extension for all fishery certificates and six-month 
extension for all action plan timelines and requirements for annual audits.”
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Industry Consultation Unit (ICU)

The Service Level Agreement (SLA) between the Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development (DPIRD) and WAFIC to 
provide dedicated consultation services on behalf of the department entered the ninth year under the third agreement between the two 
organisations in 2019/20.

The initial Agreement which commenced in 2011 
between DPRID and WAFIC contracted out statutory, 
non-statutory and specific purpose consultation. 
The SLA has previously been renewed in 2015 and 
2018, with the current agreement expiring in 2021.

The agreement has been considered a success by 
both the department and industry over the past nine 
years, owing in part to the creation of the Industry 
Consultation Unit (ICU) – a unit created to carry out 
the services of the SLA, independent and mutually 
exclusive of the representational function of WAFIC.

The ICU functions with two full time staff – one in 
Executive capacity and the other providing 
administrative support services as an Executive 
Assistant.

In terms of Statutory Consultation, the ICU facilitates 
consultation with licence holders on amendments to 
management plans, which is a requirement under the 
Act to ensure natural justice and procedural fairness 
is applied to any change to an amendment plan.

The largest body of work undertaken by the ICU 
is the planning and facilitation of Management 
Meetings held over the entire commercial fishing 
industry in WA. Whilst these meetings are of a 
non-statutory nature, they are considered an integral 
and important information sharing forum between 
the department and the licence holders.

The Management Meeting allows both parties to 
share information, often leading to a set of Action 
Items emanating from the forum which the ICU sets 
about ensuring these are addressed by either DPIRD, 
WAFIC and Sector Bodies over the course of the 
ensuing twelve months.

Intuitively, both entities complement each other 
whereby the department would be unable to 
undertake stock assessments without the regulated 
catch and effort data provided by licence holders. 

Conversely the community would not be informed of 
the state of the fishery without the formal research 
provided by regulation.

Hopefully the day will come whereby the community 
will have as much confidence in the recreational 
catch data as it does with the commercial catch data 
as advances in technology capture more effectively 
the non-commercial take component of the state’s 
marine resources.

Another form of industry engagement is the specific 
purpose consultation module under the SLA, being 
predominantly the utilisation of working groups. 
Whilst not a substitute for the Annual Management 
Meeting, the working group within fisheries operate 
as an operational means of assisting with action 
items and as a process for providing strategic 
direction for a respective fishery.
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The SLA between the Department and WAFIC 
is governed by an Advisory Group made up of 
representatives of both organisations and is headed by 
an Independent Chairman. In 2019 it was considered 
prudent by the SLA Advisory Committee that the 
Independent Chair’s position should be rotated after 
completion of a five year period. As such, the SLA 
Advisory Group welcomes Mr John Pickering and 
thanks Mr Brett McCallum for his role as Independent 
Chairman since 2014.

Basia Lamb (formerly Littlejohn) continued in her role 
over the past year as Executive Assistant and carried 
out her duties in a highly professional manner.

2020/21 sees the final year of the third agreement 
under the current SLA. Discussions are underway 
to plan for a further extension to what has been an 
extremely well received initiative between government 
and industry in carrying out an essential part of 
managing the marine resources of Western Australia.

Angus Callander 
Executive Chairman 

Angus Callander and Basia Lamb manage the 
Industry Consultation Unit, which provides an 

interface between Western Australia’s commercial 
seafood industry and the State Government.

“ The Management Meetings allow parties to share 
information and develop a set of action items and 
goals for the ensuing twelve months.”
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Resource Access – Oil and Gas 
The pressure of ongoing oil, gas and seismic activity on the commercial fishing industry is 
ongoing and despite the impacts of COVID-19, WAFIC’s oil, gas and seismic engagement 
continues to be steady.

Federal government agencies have sought public 
consultation on key issues, one being NOPSEMA’S 
review of their policy on the requirement to remove 
equipment and property (formalising regulations 
on decommissioning). Reviewing the policy which 
encompasses decommissioning decisions is 
potentially of great benefit to commercial fishers; 
ensuring proponents leave behind infrastructure 
and the natural marine environment which has built 
up over time, as long as it is safe to do so and not a 
hazard for commercial fishing operations. NOPSEMA 
is also working to ensure that decommissioning is 
included upfront, at the commencement of a project.

The Australian Government Department of Industry, 
Science, Energy and Resources has sought industry 
and community feedback on the annual Offshore 
Petroleum Exploration Acreage Release, this is 
for potential exploration areas in Commonwealth 
waters i.e. waters beyond three nautical miles 
from the territorial sea base line to the limits of 
Australia’s Exclusive Economic Zone. In simple 
terms – potential new offshore oil, gas and therefore 
seismic activity areas – over active and healthy 
commercial fishing grounds / spawning etc areas. 
The 2020 acreage release was of particular concern 
as there are major blocks south of Exmouth, 
adjacent to World Heritage Shark Bay, down to the 

Image courtesy of Woodside
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Note for designer: PLEASE LEAVE A SPOT FOR AN IMAGE

“The pressure of ongoing oil, gas and seismic 
activity on the commercial fishing industry is 
ongoing, despite the impacts of COVID-19.”

Abrolhos over multiple fisheries including Western 
Rock Lobster and scallop as well as on/near a major 
aquaculture zone. After consultation with licence 
holders and peak bodies, WAFIC submitted feedback 
on behalf of commercial fishers. The Offshore 
acreage submission was done in July, WAFIC’s 
submission was co-badged with the Northern 
Territory Seafood Council. 

Other WA and interstate peak bodies including the 
Aquaculture Council of Western Australia, Australian 
Southern Bluefin Tuna Industry Association, 
Commonwealth Fisheries Association, NPF Industry 
Pty Ltd, Pearl Producers Association, Seafood 
Industry Australia, Shark Bay Prawn Trawler 
Operators’ Association, Southern Seafood Producers 
Association (WA) Inc, Tuna Australia and the 
Western Rock Lobster Council formally supported 
our submission and were included in the final 
submission document. Since this submission and as 
a result of community push-back, the block adjacent 
to Shark Bay and the block above the Abrolhos 
Islands have been withdrawn.

WAFIC is working with the Northern Territory 
Seafood Council and National Energy Resources 
Australia (NERA) regarding an adjustment protocol 
for commercial fishery licence holders and 
potential impacts on commercial fishing activities 

as a result of seismic surveys. The draft protocol 
is being reviewed by licence holders with the 
aim of producing an agreed industry document. 
This process is extremely important, it will not 
resolve all on-the-water commercial fishing/seismic 
survey issues, however, it will be an important and 
unprecedented step forward.

WAFIC’s Fisheries Research and Development 
Corporation (FRDC) funded project is progressing. 
The first phase seismic library of published research 
papers is complete, there is ongoing work on agreed 
consultation guidelines and developing fishery 
profiles for each state and commonwealth managed 
fishery around Australia. It is aimed to have this 
project finalised and uploaded to the FRDC site by 
year’s end.

WAFIC is working directly with the Australian 
Petroleum Production and Exploration Association 
(APPEA), the National Offshore Petroleum Safety 
and Environmental Management Authority 
(NOPSEMA) and is a represented on NOPSEMA’s 
Community Engagement Reference Group (CERG). 
WAFIC continues to maintain a close and direct 
role with key organisations and decision-makers in 
the oil, gas and seismic sectors.

Mannie Shea 
Executive Officer Resource Access – Oil and Gas

First phase 
seismic library of 

published research 
papers is complete
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There are currently 32 projects underway that have 
been approved under the WARAC funding pool 
including: 

• Evaluating the Effects of Seismic Energy on 
Pinctada maxima Pearl Oysters

• Development of a sustainable scallop (Ylistrum 
balloti) fisheries enhancement program for 
Western Australia: Preliminary Feasibility Study

• Understanding the relationship between 
commercial prawn species population dynamics, 
fishing patterns and climate in the Shark Bay 
World Heritage area in Western Australia

• Species identification of Australia’s most 
significant octopus fishery – the Western 
Australian Common Octopus 

• Verification program for the use of ‘Rapid Test Kits’ 
to safeguard and grow the WA Shellfish Industry 

• Enhancing the Understanding of the Value 
Provided to Fisheries by Man-Made Aquatic 
Structures

Under FRDC’s 2020-2025 Research and Development 
Plan, the way RACs operate is changing.

These committees will focus on identifying the 
important issues and needs for fishing and 
aquaculture stakeholders in their jurisdiction. 

RACs will also focus on defining the end users and 
possible key pathways for adoption and extension. 
RAC engagement will be broader than it was previously, 
and include open online workshops and meetings 
during which stakeholders can describe their issues or 
needs as they relate to the five outcomes of the FRDC 
2020-2025 R&D Plan. Priority setting and refinement 
will follow. This will enable the best solutions to 
develop and fund to be identified. The goal is to make 
stakeholder input part of priority setting and updating 
– as one priority is addressed, another emerges 
for consideration.

Industry Partnership Agreements (IPAs)
In addition to the WARAC, Western Australian investment 
is also informed by the priorities and advice of Industry 
Partnership Agreements (IPAs). Industry Partnership 
Agreements are between the FRDC and a specific fishery 
(eg western rock lobster) to manage a suite of projects 
over a specified time period against an agreed industry 
endorsed strategic plan specific to its needs. Current 
IPAs affecting WA industry sectors include western rock 
lobster, pearls, abalone and prawns. 

Some IPAs manage the entire FRDC contribution for 
that particular sector (e.g. WRL), whilst others manage 
part of their contribution within the IPA (pearls, prawns) 
with the balance managed within the RAC jurisdictional 
expenditure. 

Research Opportunities 
WA Research Advisory Committee 
(WARAC) 
As part of their 2015-2020 Research, Development 
and Extension Plan, the Fisheries Research and 
Development Corporation (FRDC) supported a 
network of Research Advisory Committees (RACs) 
located in each state and the Northern Territory. 
The RACs have an extremely important role in 
maximising the efficiency of the FRDC’s planning and 
funding process. 

Every dollar that the Western Australian industry 
provides to FRDC – generates around $2.11 in 
investment back into the state through priority 
relevant projects. 

The WARAC advised FRDC’s planning and funding 
processes relevant to WA from 2016 to June 30 2020. 
Membership comprised a range of people with 
experience across the vast sectors of our industry. 
The WARAC, in consultation with industry, developed 
a strategic WA Research and Development (R&D) 
plan listing goals and research priorities for the 
WA fishing, pearling and aquaculture industries. 
Within this plan, the WARAC ensured that priorities 
were balanced across the programs of the FRDC 
Research, Development and Extension (RD&E) plan 
and contain a mix of basic and applied Research and 
Development. 
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WAFIC
WAFIC is the most active industry council, with FRDC 
investing in a number of WAFIC projects. 

Two projects relate to WAFIC offering co-ordination 
and leadership to issues of national strategic 
importance to the fishing industry:

Project No. 2017-194: SeSAFE – delivering industry 
safety through electronic learning, 

Project No. 2017-186: Oil and Gas: National 
coordination – seismic and other issues. 

Implementing the new 2020-2025 Research 
and Development Plan
The FRDC is currently in the process of implementing 
the 2020-2025 Research and Development Plan. 
The new R&D Plan builds on a shared ten-year vision, 
developed by diverse sectors across Australia, for 
what fishing and aquaculture could be like by 2030, 
and sets out how we can work together to achieve 
this vision within the remit of our activities. This plan 
outlines where we need to go and why. 

Now we need to work together and determine the 
best way to get there. Over the coming months, 
FRDC will engage stakeholders from across fishing 
and aquaculture in a series of online road-mapping 
workshops. In this inclusive, open process, we will 

work with stakeholders to develop five roadmaps 
describing how each of the five R&D Plan outcomes 
can be achieved. Confirmation of workshop dates and 
other FRDC meetings will be posted on our website – 
www.frdc.com.au/meetings.

For more information: 

www.frdc.com.au/sitecore/content/frdc/partners/ 
research-advisory-committees/wa-rac 

www.frdc.com.au/research/rde-planning-and-
priorities/frdc-rd-plan-2020-2025

Brett McCallum 
WARAC Chair 

Nicole Stubing 
WARAC Manager

Every dollar that the 
Western Australian industry 
provides to FRDC generates

~ $2.11
in investment back into the state 
through priority relevant projects

There are currently 

32 projects 
underway that have 

been approved under 
the WARAC funding pool

ImagInIng the FutuRe oF FIshIng anD aquaCultuRe 

11

FIsh FoReVeR 2030

the consultative process to shape this R&D Plan was extensive, with leaders and innovators from  

all sectors, fisheries managers, researchers and environmental non-government organisations 

working together on various elements. using different socio-political scenarios, they explored 

possible implications for fishing and aquaculture over the next 10 years. 

these deliberations were distilled into 14 major themes that are considered likely to shape the 

future for fishing and aquaculture. these themes were then used to define the five outcomes  

of this R&D Plan which were shared by all sectors, and five enabling strategies for achieving  

those outcomes.
additional detail relating to the R&D Plan’s implementation will be contained in the FRDC’s annual 

operational plans and reported to correspond with FRDC’s performance management framework 

(Figure 1).

a review of national-level planning documents relating to the emerging ‘blue economy’ shows  

that their strategic directions and the outcomes of this R&D Plan are similar.

all R&D Plan outcomes contribute towards meeting australia’s commitments to the united nations 

sustainable Development goals (sDgs), which provide a blueprint for sustainable, harmonious  

and prosperous human communities and natural ecosystems, agreed to by all united nations 

member states. this five-year plan has also considered national and international issues that  

are part of a broader movement in public policy more generally, and management of aquatic 

resources in particular.

Imagining the future of fishing and aquaculture

aR 
Year 1: 

2020–21
aR 

Year 2: 
2021–22

aR 
Year 3: 

2022–23
aR 

Year 4: 
2023–24
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2024–25
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Year 1: 
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Figure 1 explains how FRDC’s R&D Plan, annual operational plans (AoP),  

performance management framework and annual reporting (AR) processes interact. 

FRDC’s R&D Plan 2020–25

PeRFoRmanCe management FRameWoRk

aoP 
Year 5: 

2024–25

Imagining the future  

of fishing and aquaculture

The Fisheries Research and Development Corporation’s  

Research and Development Plan 2020–25
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Safety and Training

Marine safety in Australia is managed on a national basis under a single jurisdiction 
through the Australian Maritime Safety Authority (AMSA). AMSA took over full 
management responsibility on 1 July 2018.

The move to a national system remains in transition 
from the Department of Transport (WA) to AMSA. 
This change is the result of a whole-of-government 
approach to harmonise transport activities across 
Australia to reduce red tape, reduce costs and 
improve safety.

The AMSA policy and regulation approach 
is focused on ‘trust and verify’ which places 
greater responsibility on the vessel owner 
(including corporate entities) and its operators 
(skipper and crew) to manage safety on a vessel. 
Those demonstrating consistent safe vessel 
operations will be rewarded with reduced regulatory 
compliance (e.g. extended survey periods) resulting 
in reduced red tape and cost to the vessel. 

This approach recognises that safety and training 
needs to be specific to each and every individual 
fishing vessel or aquaculture operation. One size 
does not fit all. 

At the same time as ‘marine safety legislation’ is 
applied by AMSA, all fishing vessels and aquaculture 
sites are classed as ‘workplaces’ and are subject 
to the state jurisdiction work health and safety 
legislation. In WA, this legislation is managed 
by Worksafe. 

Both sets of legislation require owners and operators 
to identify hazards, measure the risk and then 
mitigate that risk through active management 
measures such as standard operating procedures, 
training, at-sea-practice drills and formally 
documented safety management systems.

Training is also an important link to safety 
management by ensuring owners and employees 
have the opportunity to be effectively skilled to 
manage their businesses or workplace through 
practical and cost effective training courses.
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WAFIC provides the following services and 
communications to industry for marine safety, 
workplace safety and industry training, as follows:

• Updates of issues of relevance to industry are 
published in WAFIC’s monthly newsletter and on 
the WAFIC website; 

• Latest news and important links are regularly 
updated on the WAFIC website;

• Analysis of government proposals, consultation 
with industry and development of submissions on 
behalf of the WA fishing industry;

• Fishing industry sector body groups are regularly 
informed and requested to provide targeted 
comments for inclusion in submissions;

• Direct email to members is carried out on 
matters of significance;

• Co-ordination between various government 
agencies and industry, including attending sector 
body meetings, port visits and annual fishery 
management meetings.

WAFIC actively participates in high-level consultation 
through direct representation on a range of state 
and national advisory groups on marine safety and 
workplace safety matters to ensure that WA fishing 
industry interests are clearly enunciated, represented 
and understood by authorities and decision-makers.

In 2019/20 WAFIC was actively involved in:

• AMSA Domestic Commercial Vessel Industry 
Advisory Committee

• AMSA Fishing Industry Advisory Committee

• AMSA Regional Safety Committee (WA)

• AMSA Industry Reference Group – Review of 
Certificates of Competency

• AMSA Cost Recovery Review Working Group

• Safe Work Australia – Model national WHS 
legislation

• Worksafe - Occupational Diving Code of Practice 
Working Group

• Logistics Training Council – Maritime Advisory 
Group

• Food, Fibre and Timber Training Council 
(responsible for seafood post-harvest)

• Skills Impact – Seafood Training Package

• Australian Industry Standards – Maritime Training 
Package

• FRDC Seafood Industry Safety Initiative.

WAFIC focuses resources on communicating to the 
fishing and aquaculture industry, to inform:

• what are the safety and training issues that will 
impact the industry;

• how to access the necessary information on the 
issue at hand – government agencies, websites, 
consultation papers, workshop, reports or 
port visits;

• how to access guidelines, support expertise and 
legislative requirements to enable owners and 
operators (skippers and crew) to understand and 
apply the information to fit their specific vessel 
operations.
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Major Issues in 2019/20
The introduction private accredited surveyors to 
complete vessel surveys appears to be now bearing 
fruit with several fleet operators arranging ‘bulk lot’ 
surveys at significantly reduced costs. Single owner 
operators are finding greater flexibility in arranging 
surveys to fit their refit and maintenance schedules. 
The WA government no longer provides surveyors.

All vessels are required by law to have on-board 
a Safety Management System (SMS) specifically 
designed for their vessel operations. An SMS must 
demonstrate the owner/operator has completed a 
process of hazard identification, risk assessment 
and an applied management approach to reduce the 
identified risks, including training all crew in vessel 
operations and emergency procedures. WAFIC has 
been providing industry with continuous directions to 
access SMS guidelines, templates and appropriate 
expertise to assist in developing individual vessel 
SMS plans. 

AMSA have recently carried out a series of 
educational workshops to assist industry better 
prepare their SMS for their specific vessel.

Failure to hold a current SMS on-board a vessel and 
demonstrate active application of the SMS processes 
within its fishing operations (including practice drills 
for emergency procedures) may result in the vessel 
being banned from going to sea.

WAFIC has participated strongly in the AMSA 
review of qualifications arrangements for skippers 
and engineers’ tickets in Marine Order 505 of the 
new marine safety legislation. AMSA released a 
public consultation paper in August 2019. WAFIC 
has assisted industry to respond. This process is 
now close to finalization and should result in the 
introduction of a Coxswain 3 skippers ticket for low 
complexity vessels under 12 metres in length.

Stability assessment of fishing vessels remains a 
current topic with the release of coronial findings 
for several recent prawn trawler fatalities across 
Australia. Under the new national marine safety 
laws [National Standard for Commercial Vessels 
(NSCV)] it is a requirement that the ‘vessel stability 
documentation’ is on-board at all times. Stability 
documentation must reflect the current configuration 
of the vessel and be consistent with the class and 
operation of the vessel. This is especially important 
where modifications have been made to a vessel, 
specifically where water-tanks or structures have 
been added to the deck.

At the time of moving to a national marine 
management system in 2018, Federal and State 
governments agreed to provide transition funding 
for industry for 10 years, including a 100% subsidy 
for the first three years, followed by the on-going 
application of cost recovery. This transition funding 

meant no levy will be charged to industry for the 
first three years of service delivery under AMSA 
during the period 2018/19 - 2020/21. 

During the 100% subsidy transition period AMSA 
committed to engage with industry to review a range 
of important matters including:

• the most efficient and effective ways to deliver 
services to industry;

• opportunities to reduce costs to industry without 
compromising safety; and,

• ways to reduce administrative burden so industry 
can get on with the job.

As part of the transition to a national managed 
system, WAFIC remains intimately involved in the 
AMSA process to implement a cost recovery policy, 
associated processes and assessment of potential 
impact on industry. To date little detail is forthcoming 
on the review process and timing.

WAFIC will be working with other fishing groups 
and marine industries to ensure that the state and 
federal governments sustain their commitment to 
the 100% subsidy until the review of costs recovery 
policy and application is finalised.

Following overwhelming support from industry 
float-free EPIRBs will become mandatory on all 
vessels operating beyond two (2) nautical miles from 

“ Those demonstrating consistent safe vessel operations 
will be rewarded with reduced regulatory compliance, 
resulting in reduced red tape and cost to the vessel.”
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Crew working for Australia 
Bay Seafoods using a tablet to 
complete the modules. 

January 2021. By that time there will have been 
an 18-month transition period to allow operators 
to phase out old EPIRBs at the end of their useful 
life. This consultation has included alternative 
arrangements for vessels less than 7.5 metres.

Based on strong industry advocacy, AMSA introduced 
a new survey regime that allows vessels with a good 
safety history, strong maintenance program and 
consistent survey outcomes to receive substantially 
longer survey expiry periods, thus saving time and 
cost of ceasing fishing, slipping vessels and surveyor 
costs. Those demonstrating poor history will remain 
on a tight schedule until they improve. Under the 
cost recovery policy this should provide an incentive 
for operators to take greater responsibility for safety 
management on their vessels and move to the longer 
survey expiry periods.

WAFIC has continued a ‘watching brief’ on the 
introduction of the new WA Occupational Health and 
Safety legislation and has made several submissions. 
The proposed new legislation has recently been 
tabled in State Parliament and has raised significant 
issues around the ‘unannounced’ introduction of 
industrial manslaughter offences that appear to 
have low levels of proof for breaches. WAFIC has 
joined forces with a range of significant industry 
representative bodies to present a Joint Industry 
approach to the State Government.

WAFIC, the WA Abalone Association and the Pearl 
Producers Association have continued representing 
industry on the Diving Code of Practice Review 
Working Group established by Commission of Safety 
and Health (WA). This review has been asked to 
consider establishing a formal set of guidelines 
to be included in s57 of the WA workplace safety 
regulations. WAFIC appears to have been successful 
in arguing that ‘one size does not fit all’, that diving 
systems need to be very specific to each fishery and 
that government needs to provide guidelines on 
minimum dive requirements that can then be applied 
to specific codes of practice for the specific sectors - 
pearling, fishing or aquaculture industry.

Other issues that have been dealt with in 2019/20 were:

• Closure of the Australian Inmarsat differential 
global positioning system

• Fatigue Management Guidelines

• Ceasing HF radio frequency monitoring

• Inquest findings for FV Diane

• FRDC Project 2017-046: Barriers to WHS Adoption 
in Australian Fisheries

• Improve Safety of Passengers

Many thanks to Chris Battel, AMSA (WA) Liaison 
Officer for his tireless industry consultation efforts.

Brett McCallum 
WAFIC Safety and Training Consultant

Float-free EPIRBs become mandatory on all vessels operating beyond two nautical miles offshore from 1 January 2021.
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SeSAFE project fills important gaps in safety training
The SeSAFE project is a national initiative designed to raise awareness and improve 
safety performance in the Australian fishing and aquaculture industry.

It is not uncommon for skippers to hire a new, 
inexperienced crew member at short notice, 
sometimes only hours prior to departing on the 
next fishing trip. Frequently these individuals step 
onboard the boat before receiving any safety training 
by the skipper, and sometimes only after the boat 
has been at sea for several hours or longer. 

This approach puts the safety of these individuals 
at risk and is inconsistent with other industries that 
require completion of safety training prior to stepping 
foot on the work site. It may also leave the skipper 
at risk of legal action if the individual is injured or 
worse, because it may not satisfy a requirement 
under workplace health and safety law for employers 
to take all steps “deemed reasonably practicable” 
to ensure the safety of their workers.

The SeSAFE LMS plugs this gap by providing 
inexperienced crew members an opportunity to 
complete a small number of modules prior to 
stepping onboard the boat. Modules are easily 
accessed and completed on any tablet, laptop, 
or desktop computer with internet access, and all the 

Established in 2017, a core activity of this project 
is the development of a Learning Management 
System (LMS) comprising multiple online training 
modules, each usually taking 4 to 6 minutes to 
complete. A total of 44 modules have now been 
completed covering a variety of topics in emergency 
response, personal safety, operational safety, 
and fishery-specific safety, and over 200 skippers 
and crew from around the country have now 
completed some or all of the modules.

Importantly, the SeSAFE LMS is a convenient 
opportunity to fill several gaps in safety training in 
the fishing and aquaculture industry. This includes 
providing safety training to new, inexperienced crew 
members before they step foot onboard a boat, not 
afterwards, and providing opportunities for crew 
refresher training at a convenient time and place. 
It also includes providing safety training in topics 
that complement a boats’ safety induction program 
and safety management system (SMS), as well as 
training in topics that may not be covered in this 
program or SMS. 

Modules can be completed in mobile environments using 
tablets or laptop computers. 
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skipper has to do is select which modules are to be 
completed and provide SeSAFE the crew member’s 
email address. SeSAFE uses this address to provide 
the crew member access to the modules, and upon 
their completion, informs the skipper that training 
has been completed. 

Another gap that is filled is the provision of safety 
training in topics that may not be covered by an 
onboard safety induction program or SMS. This 
includes a suite of personal safety modules such as 
sun protection, hand safety, fatigue management, 
mental health, and personal hygiene, recently 
updated to include precautions against COVID 19 
infection. It also includes the provision of prawn-
fishery-specific training modules including safe 
handling of trawl gear, swinging booms in and out, 
codend safety, and hazardous animals, which were 
funded by the Australian Council of Prawn Fisheries. 
A suite of similar modules specific to the WA rock 
lobster fishery is currently under development, 
funded by the Western Rock Lobster Council, and 
should be available to fishers in coming months.

Finally, a gap filled by the SeSAFE LMS is the 
provision of refresher safety training for experienced 
crew members. For example, a skipper can request 
that his crew complete one or two modules every 
week, perhaps in a quiet time during a fishing trip. 

The crew can view these modules as a group, with 
modules screened on a monitor in the wheelhouse 
or galley. Each crew member completes module 
questions on a piece of paper or logbook and 
their responses are retained by the skipper for 
recordkeeping. This ensures that all crew members 
receive the same training and it provides the skipper 
an opportunity to discuss how module content can be 
specifically applied on their boat.

Future steps for the SeSAFE project include 
exploring the potential introduction of a user-pays 
model whereby crew pay a small amount for module 
access. This approach is consistent with many other 
industries where workers complete safety training 
prior to stepping on the worksite, and it will help 
perpetuate the availability of this training over 
the long term. Future steps also include module 
development with the Bureau of Meteorology 
that focus on interpretation and understanding 
of weather forecasts, and ongoing steps to raise 
awareness of SeSAFE and the delivery of training 
to crew, particularly those working on one small, 
independently-owned fishing boats. Individuals 
wishing to test and evaluate one or more modules 
can do so at no cost by contacting Steve Eayrs at 
seayrs@sesafe.com.au. 

The SeSAFE project is funded by the FRDC, 
AMSA, and the commercial fishing industry, and 
administered by WAFIC. Additional information can 
be found on the project website, www.sesafe.com.au. 
Fishers interested in a no-cost independent audit 
of their SMS can contact Fish Safe Australia at 
fishsafeaustralia@iinet.net.au.

Steve Eayrs 
Principal Investigator – SeSAFE

“ LMS provides safety training to new, inexperienced crew 
members before they step foot onboard a boat.”

Safety is the 

#1 priority 
for skippers
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

2020 2019

Notes $ $

INCOME

Income from GVP 2,623,872 2,504,442

Water Lease Fee 50,000 50,000

Interest Received 30,122 51,352

Member Subscriptions 21,350 20,100

Other Income 65,762 66,198

Jobkeeper Payments 42,000 -

Cash Flow Boost 50,000 -

Other Trading Revenue 63 175

Project Management Fees 100,733 98,276

Reimbursements 36,763 41,153

3,020,665 2,831,696

EXPENDITURE

Depreciation and Amortisation Expense 43,304 28,748

Employment Expenses 967,140 1,181,350

Loss on Disposal of Assets - 28,749

Other Operating Expenses 5 346,838 380,576

Provision for Exmouth Trawl 20,405 -

Rental Expense 144,857 144,235

Sector Body Payments 6 1,151,943 1,038,565

2,674,487 2,802,223

WAFIC Current Year Surplus/(Deficiency) 346,178 29,473

2020 2019

Notes $ $

PROJECTS

Projects (Net) 3 16,205 196,693

Surplus/(Deficiency) Before Income Tax 362,384 226,166

Income Tax Expense - -

Current Year Surplus/(Deficiency) 
After Income Tax 362,384 226,166

Retained Profit at the beginning of the 
Financial Year 1,676,433 1,450,267

Add: Project Reserve 10 200,593 268,450

Add: Industry Corporate Development 
Reserve 11 216,299 137,136

Retained Profits at the end of the 
Financial Year 2,455,709 2,082,019
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

2020 2019

Notes $ $

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 7 2,519,708 2,305,077

Trade and Other Receivables 8 154,141 124,984

Prepayments (Insurance) 9,885 11,496

Accrued Income 4,882 15,250

Total Current Assets 2,688,616 2,456,807

Non-Current Assets

Plant And Equipment, Furniture and 
Motor Vehicles 9 135,695 85,188

Total Non-Current Assets 135,695 85,188

Total Assets 2,824,311 2,541,995

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities

Employee Benefits 93,789 82,602

GVP Provision – Exmouth Trawl 10 20,405 -

Other Provisions 176,786 283,000

Trade and Other Payables 39,603 62,460

Total Current Liabilities 330,583 428,062

2020 2019

Notes $ $

Non-Current Liabilities

Employee Benefits 38,019 31,914

Total Non-Current Liabilities 38,019 31,914

Total Liabilities 368,602 459,976

Net Assets 2,455,709 2,082,019

Members' Funds

Industry Corporate Development 
Reserves 11 216,299 137,135

Project Reserve 10 200,593 268,450

Retained Surplus 2,038,817 1,676,434

Total Members' Fund 2,455,709 2,082,019
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

Retained 
Earnings Reserves Total

Notes $ $ $

Balance at 1 July 2019 1,676,433 405,586 2,082,019

Surplus/(Deficiency) for the Year 362,384 - 362,384

Movement In: Project Reserves 10 - (67,857) (67,857)

Movement In: Industry Corporate Development Reserves

Balance at 30 June 2020 - 79,163 79,163

2,038,817 416,892 2,455,709

Retained 
Earnings Reserves Total

Notes $ $ $

Balance at 1 July 2018 1,450,267 670,876 2,121,143

Surplus/(Deficiency) for the Year 226,166 - 226,166

Movement In: Project Reserves 10 - (301,132) (301,132)

Movement In: Industry Corporate Development Reserves - 35,842 35,842

Balance at 30 June 2019 1,676,433 405,586 2,082,019

61ANNUAL REPORT 2019-20 | WAFIC



STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

2020 2019

Notes $ $

Cash Flows From Operating Activities:

Receipts From Customers 3,081,812 2,824,355

Payments to Suppliers and Employees (2,807,576) (2,684,955)

Project Surplus 25,079 (275,465)

Net Cash Provided by/(Used in) Operating Activities 13 299,315 (136,065)

Cash Flows From Investing Activities:

Proceeds From Sale of Plant and Equipment (67,393) 61,798

Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment (17,291) (12,201)

Net Cash Used by Investing Activities (84,684) 49,597

Net Increase/(Decrease) In Cash and Cash Equivalents Held 214,631 (86,468)

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year 2,305,077 2,391,545

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Financial Year 7 2,519,708 2,305,077
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The financial statements cover Western Australian Fishing Industry Council 
Inc. as an individual entity. Western Australian Fishing Industry Council Inc. 
is a not-for-profit association incorporated in Western Australia under the 
Associations Incorporation Act (WA) 2015 (‘the Act’).

The functional and presentation currency of Western Australian Fishing Industry 
Council Inc. is Australian dollars.

Comparatives are consistent with prior years, unless otherwise stated.

1 Basis of Preparation

In the opinion of the Board, the Association is not a reporting entity since 
there are unlikely to exist users of the financial report who are not able to 
command the preparation of reports tailored so as to satisfy specifically all 
of their information needs. These special purpose financial statements have 
been prepared to meet the reporting requirements of the Act.

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
recognition and measurement requirements of the Australian Accounting 
Standards and Accounting Interpretations, and the disclosure requirements of 
AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, AASB 107 Statement of Cash 
Flows, AASB 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and 
Errors and AASB 1054 Australian Additional Disclosures.

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Income Tax

The association is exempt from income tax under Division 50 of the 
Income Tax Assessment Act 1997.

(b) Revenue and Other Income

Revenue is recognised when the amount of the revenue can be measured 
reliably, it is probable that economic benefits associated with the 
transaction will flow to the association and specific criteria relating to the 
type of revenue as noted below, has been satisfied.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or 
receivable and is presented net of returns, discounts and rebates.

All revenue is stated net of the amount of Goods and Services Tax (GST).

Subscriptions

Revenue from the provision of membership subscriptions is recognised on 
a straight line basis over the financial year.

Other Income

Other income is recognised on an accruals basis when the association is 
entitled to it.

(c) Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, 
except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the 
Australian Tax Office. In these circumstances, the GST is recognised as 
part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the 
expense. Receivables and payables in the statement of financial position 
are shown inclusive of GST.

(d) Property, Plant and Equipment

Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value 
less, where applicable, any accumulated depreciation and impairment.

Items of property, plant and equipment acquired for nil or nominal 
consideration have been recorded at the acquisition date fair value.

Depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, is depreciated on a straight-line basis 
over the assets useful life to the association, commencing when the asset 
is ready for use.
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(e) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprises cash on hand, demand deposits and 
short-term investments which are readily convertible to known amounts 
of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.

(f) Employee Benefits

Provision is made for the Association’s liability for employee benefits 
arising from services rendered by employees to the end of the reporting 
period. Employee benefits that are expected to be wholly settled within 
one year have been measured at the amounts expected to be paid when 
the liability is settled.

3 Projects (net)

2020 2019

$ $

– Project receipts 121,628 60,690

– Project payments (75,144) (362,416)

– Provisions for project expense – current (41,586) 233,128

– Provisions for project expense – non-current 11,307 265,291

Total project surplus 16,205 196,693

Project transactions have been grouped together and consolidated into total 
project receipts and project payments. If members wish to have a copy of the 
individual project payments and receipts, they are available on request.

4 Excluded Projects

The Association manages certain projects on behalf of other entities. These 
are considered external to the operations of WAFIC and all transactions and 
balances relating to these are excluded from the financial statements.

The association is the custodian of $1,399,462 in relation to these projects.

5 Other Operating Expenses Breakdown

2020 2019

$ $

Accounting 1,003 766

Advertising 1,273 1,721

Audit fees 13,650 13,650

Bank fees 1,241 1,464

Computer maintenance 21,239 19,357

Consultants 28,683 28,936

Fremantle office

– Cleaning 9,923 10,815

– Council rates 15,353 13,800

– Electricity 9,125 9,112

– Equipment 1,821 1,533

– Land tax 24,740 24,740

– Office operations 70,164 78,599

– Repairs & maintenance 1,814 904

– Water rates 2,035 2,987

Insurances 16,919 15,999

Legal expenses 38,669 28,317

Meeting 34,489 39,055

Memberships 11,979 13,786

Motor vehicles 4,526 7,680

Telephone, fax & internet 16,727 16,521

Traveling expenses 21,465 50,834

Total other operating expenses breakdown 346,838 380,576
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6 Allocation to Sector Body Payments 

2020 2019

$ $

Abalone Industry Association of WA 11,020 13,044

Aquaculture Council of WA 100,000 60,000

Pearl Producers Association 57,813 57,737

Shark Bay Prawn Trawler Operators Association 49,260 50,141

Southern Seafood Producers (WA) Association 224,216 179,394

Western Rock Lobster Council 709,634 678,249

Total allocation to sector body payments  1,151,943 1,038,565

7 Cash and Cash Equivalents

2020 2019

$ $

Cash at bank and in hand 100,767 89,179

Cash reserve 243,904 152,846

Term deposits 2,175,037 2,063,052

Total cash and cash equivalents 2,519,708 2,305,077

8 Trade and Other Receivables

2020 2019

$ $

Current trade receivables 151,453 113,720

GST receivable 2,649 11,006

Reimbursement account 39 258

Total current trade and other receivables 154,141 124,984

9 Plant and Equipment, Furniture & Motor Vehicles

2020 2019

$ $

Plant and Equipment

At cost 50,001 49,168

Accumulated depreciation (37,895) (38,165)

Total plant and equipment 12,106 11,003

Furniture, Fixtures and Fittings

At cost 203,879 187,421

Accumulated depreciation (141,540) (119,249)

Total furniture, fixtures and fittings 62,339 68,172

Motor Vehicles

At cost 98,913 31,520

Accumulated depreciation (37,663) (25,507)

Total motor vehicles 61,250 6,013

Total plant and equipment, furniture  
& motor vehicles 135,695 85,188

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020
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10 Project Reserve

2020- 
2021

2021- 
2022

2022- 
2023 Total

$ $ $ $

Projects

ACWA (shellfish hatchery) 82,786 41,393 - 124,179

BCS & Social Licence to 
Operate 34,000 34,000 34,000 102,000

Commonwealth Marine Parks 5,000 - - 5,000

Rebranding 10,000 - - 10,000

Strategic and Education 
Program - 38,100 38,100 76,200

Seafood WA Digital 
Development 45,000 - - 45,000

WA Seafood Awards 
Contribution - 15,000 - 15,000

Total project reserve 176,786 128,493 72,100 377,379

The Finance Audit And Risk Management (FARM) sub-committee identified 
the necessity to further improve the mechanics of the financial statements by 
providing an entry into the accounts that identifies key projects that have been 
approved by the Board of WAFIC.

The FARM sub-committee agreed to allocate funds for strategic and 
education projects to facilitate the organisation’s long term strategic planning 
and education development requirements. The long term provisioning has 
been raised through equity reserves. The funding of these and other current 
projects are able to be drawn from funds on deposit.

11 Industry Corporate Development Reserve

Originally donated by industry for industry campaigns.

12 Contingencies

In the opinion of the Board, the association did not have any contingencies at 
30 June 2020.

13 Cash Flow Information

Reconciliation of result for the year to cashflows from operating activities

Reconciliation of net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

2020 2019

$ $

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 362,384 226,166

Add back non-cash flows

Depreciation and amortisation expense 43,304 28,748

– Project liability movements (67,857) (84,863)

– Project reserve movements (200,214) (213,871)

– Net (gain)/loss on disposal of assets 67,393 -

Changes in assets and liabilities

– Change in accounts receivable (29,157) (5,290)

– Change in other current assets 11,980 15,284

– Change in liabilities 111,482 (102,239)

Cashflow from operations 299,315 (136,065)
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14 Events after the end of the Reporting Period

The financial report was authorised for issue on 27 October 2020 by the Board.

No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year 
which significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations of the 
association, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the 
association in future financial years.

15 Unexpended Project Funds

Unexpended project funds (funds in advance) at year end are capitalised in the 
assets and liabilities statement where the committee has determined that the 
unexpended amounts are committed to future expenditure.

Prepaid project expenditure incurred prior to the receipt of project income is 
offset against any liability for unexpended project funds.

16 Board Meetings

Meetings held & attended

Meetings 
eligible to 

attend  
2019/20

Meetings 
attended 
2019/20

Meetings 
eligible to 

attend  
2018/19

Meetings 
attended 
2018/19

Adam Radford 8 8 - -

Anthony Haygarth 12 10 6 5

Bruce Cockman - - 2 2

Don Nicholls 12 12 6 5

Dr Ron Edwards 5 5 6 5

Felicity Horn 8 8 - -

Gary Morgan 5 5 - -

George Kailis - - 2 2

Meetings 
eligible to 

attend  
2019/20

Meetings 
attended 
2019/20

Meetings 
eligible to 

attend  
2018/19

Meetings 
attended 
2018/19

James Clement 5 5 8 8

John Hutton 4 4 8 7

Katie Hodson-Thomas - - 2 2

Leonie Noble 5 5 8 8

Murray Criddle 5 5 - -

Nathan Adams - - 2 2

Paul Catalano 5 5 - -

Peter Cooke 5 5 6 6

Terry Mouchemore 4 4 8 8

Tony Westerberg 12 12 8 8

Wayne Scheggia 5 5 - -

17 Association Details

The registered office of the Association is: 

Western Australian Fishing Industry Council Inc.  
PO Box 1605 
Fremantle WA 6959
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The Board has determined that the Association is not a reporting entity and that this special purpose financial report should be prepared in accordance with the 
accounting policies outlined in Note 2 to the Financial Statements.

In the opinion of the Board the financial report as set out on pages 59-62.

1. Presents fairly the financial position of Western Australian Fishing Industry Council Inc. as at 30 June 2020 and its performance for the year ended on that date.

2. At the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that Western Australian Fishing Industry Council Inc. will be able to pay its debts as and when 
they fall due.

This statement is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board and is signed for and on behalf of the Board by:

Western Australian Fishing Industry Council Chair

Finance, Audit and Risk Management Committee Chair

Dated this 27 day of October 2020

 

STATEMENT BY MEMBERS OF THE BOARD
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Report on the audit of the financial report

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial report, being a special purpose financial report of Western Australian Fishing Industry Council Inc. (the Association), 
which comprises the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2020, the Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Statement of Changes in Equity and the 
Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and management’s 
assertion statement.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Association for the year ended 30 June 2020 is prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with 
Associations Incorporation Act (WA) 2015.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial report section of our report. We are independent of the Association in accordance with the auditor independence 
requirements of the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
(the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Basis of accounting

We draw attention to Note 1 of the financial report, which describes the basis of accounting. The financial report is prepared to assist the association to fulfil their 
financial reporting responsibilities under the Associations Act. As a result, the financial report may not be suitable for another purpose. Our report is intended solely 
for the Association and should not be distributed to or used by parties other than the Association. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Emphasis of matter

We draw attention to Note 10 of the financial report, which illustrates the addition of the provision for future projects. The allocated funds are for strategic and 
education projects to facilitate the organisation’s long term strategic planning and education development requirements, approved by the Finance, Audit  and 
Risk Management sub-committee. The provision raised in reserves hasn’t been included as part of our audit testing, and our opinion is not modified in respect of 
this matter.

INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF 
WESTERN AUSTRALIAN FISHING INDUSTRY COUNCIL INC.
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Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance with Associations Incorporation Act (WA) 2015, and for such 
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error.

In preparing the financial report, management is responsible for assessing the association’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the association or to cease operations, 
or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the association’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this 
financial report.

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. 
We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the association’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the association’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial reporter, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the association to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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We communicate with the management regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the management with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them 
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the management, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial report of the current 
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the 
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing 
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Daniel Papaphotis 
Registered Company Auditor 
# - 410503 
Francis A Jones Pty Ltd  
Fremantle WA 6160

Dated: 29 October 2020
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L1, 56 Marine Tce. Fremantle WA 6160
PO Box 1605. Fremantle WA 6959

T (08) 9432 7777 | F (08) 9432 7700
admin@wafic.org.au | wafic.org.au

@waseafood
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